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1. Financial report on the 2015 accounts 

Introduction 

1.  The 2015 consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with 

International Public Sector Accounting Standards (IPSAS) and consolidate all of the 

operations under the direct authority of the Director-General including the regular budget, 

extra-budgetary funded activities, the Inter-American Centre for Knowledge Development 

in Vocational Training (CINTERFOR), the International Training Centre of the ILO (ITC), 

and the ILO Staff Health Insurance Fund (SHIF) activities related to the International 

Labour Organization (ILO) officials and retirees. 

2.  The Financial Regulations specify a biennial financial period; however for general 

purpose financial reporting in accordance with IPSAS, annual financial statements are 

presented. For the purpose of actual versus budget comparisons, in Statements V-A to V-C 

the final annual budget amounts for 2015 represent one half of the approved biennial 

budget plus the balance remaining unspent at the end of the first year of the biennium. 

Statements V-A to V-C also include biennial results. 

3.  The financial statements prepared under IPSAS use full accrual-based accounting 

which requires the recognition of transactions and events when they occur. In particular, 

revenue from voluntary contributions to development cooperation is recognized when the 

ILO delivers the services specified in the agreement with the donor, rather than when cash 

is received or pledged. Expenses are recognized when services or goods are received or 

delivered rather than when cash is paid. The value of future employee benefits such as 

accumulated leave, repatriation entitlements, and after-service health insurance (ASHI) is 

recognized in the financial statements in the period when these benefits are earned by ILO 

staff rather than when they are paid. 

4.  Reporting general purpose financial statements on an IPSAS basis has no impact on 

the preparation or reporting of the ILO regular budget result, which continues to be 

presented on a modified cash basis in accordance with the Financial Regulations. As the 

basis of the budget and the financial statements differ, a reconciliation between the budget 

and the IPSAS statement of financial performance is presented in note 24 to the financial 

statements. 
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Financial highlights for 2015 

5.  The table below summarizes the financial situation of the ILO in 2015 as compared 

to 2014 and 2013 (the second year of the previous biennium): 

(US$ millions) 2013  2014  2015 

Revenue 762.1 771.6 713.6 

Expenses 801.3 768.7 757.8 

Surplus (deficit) (39.2) 2.9 (44.2) 

    

Assets 1 693.9 1 686.6 1 607.8 

Liabilities 1 600.9 1 803.7 1 816.3 

Net assets 93.0 (117.1) (208.5) 

6.  The consolidated deficit for 2015 is US$44.2 million as compared to a surplus of 

US$2.9 million in 2014 and a deficit of US$39.2 million in 2013. An analysis of revenue 

and expenses is provided in the following sections. 

7.  The decrease in net assets from negative US$117.1 million in 2014 to a negative 

US$208.5 million is mainly attributable to the increase in the ASHI liability and to the 

negative net result of the year. Figure 1 illustrates the correlation between the ASHI 

liability and net assets. Further information on the most significant movements in assets 

and liabilities, in particular ASHI, is provided later in this report. 

Figure 1. Movement in net assets as compared to ASHI liability 
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Financial performance 

Revenue 

8.  Revenue in 2015 totalled US$713.6 million (US$771.6 million in 2014) and is 

composed as follows: 

Figure 2. Revenue by source, 2015 (US$ millions) 
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and exchange and revaluation gains (US$12.5 million), offset by decreases in investment 

income and miscellaneous revenue of US$5.9 million and US$3 million respectively. 

Assessed 
contributions

$387
54%

Voluntary 
contributions  

$261
37%

ITC training 
services  $14

2%

Other 
revenue $52

7%



Financial report and audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2015 

4 ILC.105/FIN   

Figure 3. Revenue sources, three-year comparison 
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12.  Expenses in 2015 totalled US$757.8 million (US$768.7 million in 2014) and were 
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Figure 4. Expenses in 2015 (US$ millions) 
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13.  Figure 5 provides a three-year comparison by main expense categories: 

Figure 5. Expenses, three-year comparison 
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Financial position 

Assets 

16.  Assets as at 31 December 2015 totalled US$1,607.8million (US$1,686.6 million as 

at 31 December 2014) as follows: 

Figure 6. Assets (US$ millions) 
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18.  Figure 7 provides a three-year comparison by asset category: 

Figure 7. Assets, three-year comparison 
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20.  The movement in the distribution between cash and investments is due to two factors. 

To respond to the challenges of obtaining an investment return on liquid deposits, 

following advice of the ILO Investment Committee, US$76.8 million of cash holdings 

were invested in unit funds through two new investment portfolios. In addition, extending 

the duration on short-term deposits amounting to US$67.5 million with maturity between 

90 days and one year required a reclassification of these deposits as investments.  

21.  The overall level of cash, cash equivalents and investments decreased by 

US$62 million or by 8.3 per cent as compared to 2014. The decrease results from the 

shortfall in assessed contributions and the net decline in the volume of the funds held on 

behalf of donors for development cooperation projects. 

Assessed contributions receivable 

22.  Due to a lower collection rate on both current year and arrears of contributions during 

2015, the level of assessed contributions receivable increased by US$29.3 million to 

US$112.5 million as at 31 December 2015, prior to the required adjustment for member 

States which had lost the right to vote. This was in line with the ILO’s historic pattern of 

comparatively lower collection rate on contribution in the second year of the biennium.  

23.  Figure 9 summarizes the assessed contribution receivable balances and their 

components at the end of each of the last five years: 

Figure 9. Assessed contributions receivable 
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Figure 10. Assessed contributions collection rate (in the year of assessment) 
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Figure 11. 

(US$ thousands) 

Fair value  

31.12.2015 31.12.2014 

Land     

Headquarters – Geneva      

Land 304 164  305 398  

Plots of land classified as investment property 28 254  57 570  

Lima  3 190  3 115  

Abidjan  440  423  

Santiago  1 157  1 230  

Total land  337 205  367 736  
   

Buildings      

Headquarters – Geneva  132 076  142 865  

Lima  10 100  9 865  

Brasilia  436  545  

Abidjan  2 495  2 398  

Dar es Salaam  2 403  2 292  

Buenos Aires  650  648  

Islamabad  259  267  

Santiago  2 127  2 869  

Brussels  662  761  

Total buildings  151 208  162 510  
   

Total land and buildings 488 413  530 246  

Land 

27.  The total value of land decreased principally due to the sale of one plot of land with 

a book value of US$20.9 million and the revaluation of a plot of land held under a 

leasehold. The leasehold value has been adjusted downwards by US$8.2 million to reflect 

the amount received in March 2016 following the renunciation of the lease by the ILO. 

The value has further decreased by US$0.2 million resulting from net exchange 

differences. The sale of the land in 2015 provided a gain of 5.3 million Swiss francs (CHF) 

(US$6.1 million including exchange gain) as compared to its market value at 31 December 

2014. The revenue from the sale was transferred to the Building and Accommodation Fund 

to partially finance the headquarters building renovation.  

28.  The decrease in the value of other land properties by US$1.2 million is composed of 

a decrease in market value of US$1.4 million, and a revaluation gain of US$0.2 million 

due to favourable exchange rate movements. 

Buildings 

29.  The decrease in the total value of buildings of US$11.3 million is mainly attributable 

to a decrease in the market value of the headquarters building by US$10.8 million due to 

increasing vacancy rates in Geneva. 
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Liabilities 

30.  Liabilities as at 31 December 2015 totalled US$1,816.3 million (US$1,803.7 million 

as at 31 December 2014) as follows: 

Figure 12. Liabilities (US$ millions) 

 

31.  Figure 13 below provides a three-year comparison by liability category: 

Figure 13. Liabilities, three-year comparison 
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Employee benefits 

32.  The most significant liabilities were the future employee benefits accrued by staff 

members and retirees. These represented 69 per cent of the ILO’s total liabilities as at 

31 December 2015. 

ASHI liability 

33.  The ASHI liability represents 93 per cent of the total employee benefits’ liability and 

refers to the estimated cost of the employer’s share of future health-care premia in respect 

of all current retirees and all active staff members with projected eligibility for ASHI. It is 

an estimate calculated by an independent actuary taking into consideration the current 

discount rates, trends in health-care costs, mortality rates, the demographic make-up of the 

insured population, inflation and other assumptions. It is based on an approach developed 

by the actuarial profession and endorsed by accounting standard setters as being the most 

accurate method for projecting the amount of the Organization’s future obligation. 

34.  A key assumption utilized by the actuary to calculate the ASHI liability is the 

discount rate. The decline in the global interest rates from 2009 to 2015 has had a 

significant effect on the discount rate and consequently the ASHI liability valuation. 

Figure 14 shows the growth in the ASHI liability and the relationship with the discount 

rate. 

Figure 14. Growth in ASHI and discount rate 
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35.  The ASHI liability increased by US$71 million in 2015 to US$1,159 million. The 

increase was primarily the result of actuarial losses as detailed below: 

Actuarial (gains)/losses US$ millions 

Loss due to change in discount rate 30.8 

Loss due to experience 5.4 

Total actuarial losses recognized in net assets 36.2 

  

Current service cost 36.9 

Interest cost 20.0 

Net benefits paid (22.1) 

Net ASHI expense recognized in the statement of financial performance 34.8 

Total increase in ASHI liability 71.0 

36.  The ASHI liability is currently considered as unfunded. However, an amount of 

US$61.6 million is available in a SHIF Guarantee Fund to cover future liabilities of SHIF 

together with an amount of US$3.6 million accumulated in respect of the staff of 

development cooperation projects. The ILO fulfils its immediate obligations in respect of 

the financing of health insurance for former officials from the regular budget, on a pay-

as-you-go basis. 

Regular budget  

37.  The International Labour Conference, at its 102nd Session (June 2013), approved an 

expenditure budget for the 2014–15 financial period amounting to US$801.3 million and 

an income budget for the period for the same amount, which at the budget rate of exchange 

for the period of CHF0.95 to the US dollar, resulted in total assessed contributions of 

CHF761.2 million.  

38.  The overall budgetary results for the 2014–15 financial period are summarized in 

Statement V-A with the details of contributions paid by member States shown in note 31 

to the financial statements. 

39.  The table below shows the expenditure and budget utilization percentages for the 

current and recent years: 
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Variance analysis by strategic outcome for 2012–13 and 2014–15 (in US$ thousands) 

  2012–13 2012–13 2012–13  2014–15 2014–15 2014–15 

Budget Actual  Delivery  Budget Actual  Delivery 

        

Part I – Ordinary budget        

A. Policy-making organs 93 292 90 372 96.87%  82 469  74 351  90.16% 

B. Strategic objectives 648 089 645 343  99.58%  612 292  605 660  98.92% 

C. Management services 75 738 74 063  97.79%  61 995  61 929  99.89% 

D. Other budgetary provisions 47 134 46 025  97.65%  46 802  44 299  94.65% 

Adjustment for staff turnover  (7 303) –  0.00%  (6 599) –  0.00% 

        

Total Part I 856 950 855 803  99.87%  796 959  786 239  98.64% 

              

Part II – Unforeseen expenditure 875 –  0.00%  875  – 0.00% 

        

Part IV – Institutional investments 
and extraordinary items 

3 795 3 795  100.00%  3 426  3 426  100.00% 

        

Total Parts I, II and IV 861 620 859 598  99.77%  801 260  789 665  98.54% 

40.  The results for the 2014–15 biennium are broadly in line with those from the  

2012–13 biennium, with an overall delivery rate of 98.54 per cent for 2014–15 as 

compared to 99.77 per cent for 2012–13. The slightly lower delivery rate in 2014–15 as 

compared to 2012–13 is evident in Statement V-A, which shows an excess of income over 

expenditure for the period at the budgetary rate of exchange amounting to US$11.6 million. 

This was largely the result of projected inflation rates included in the approved budget not 

being realized. Following revaluations, adjustments in respect of arrears of contributions 

received and reimbursement of the Working Capital Fund, the net deficit at the end of the 

biennium was US$16.2 million. In accordance with article 21.1(a) of the Financial 

Regulations, the Working Capital Fund was drawn upon to finance this budgetary 

expenditure pending receipt of contributions. Arrears of contributions received in 2016 

will be used to reimburse the Working Capital Fund. Results-based delivery information 

in respect of delivery against outcomes is reported biennially to the Governing Body and 

Conference through the ILO Programme implementation report at the conclusion of each 

biennium. 

41.  The differences between the net results on the IPSAS (full accrual) basis and those 

in accordance with the Financial Regulations are summarized in the following table and 

explained in more detail in note 24. 
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(US$ thousands) 
Regular 
budget 

CINTERFOR ITC Subsidiary 
funds 

Total 

Biennial net result per budgetary basis 
(Statement V) 

(16 200)  326  1 534  _ (14 340) 

Timing difference  (36 266) (245) _ _ (36 511) 

Adjusted net result (52 466) 81 1 534 _           (50 851) 

IPSAS adjustments 37 051 49 (1 422) –    35 678 

Subsidiary funds _ _ _ (29 074) (29 074) 

Net result per IPSAS basis (15 415) 130  112  (29 074) (44 247)  

Other funds 

42.  As at 31 December 2015, the net assets of other funds managed by the ILO amounted 

to US$20.5 million and included the ITC, CINTERFOR and the Administrative Tribunal.  

43.  The overall results of those funds with budgets approved by the Governing Body or 

the Board of the ITC for 2015 are summarized in Statements V-B and V-C and information 

on the net assets of each fund is included in the appendix. 

44.  Expenditure recognized during 2015 on extra-budgetary development cooperation 

activities totalled US$234.5 million (US$246.6 million in 2014). Under IPSAS, revenue 

is recognized and matched by the Office when earned though project delivery; hence the 

extra-budgetary development cooperation delivery rate is consistently 100 per cent in 

financial terms.  

45.  The ILO Staff Health Insurance Fund (SHIF) is a self-insured health insurance 

programme for active staff, retirees and dependents, which is maintained by the ILO. This 

programme is financed through contributions from insured persons and the ILO. The 

Statement of Financial Performance reports as income, the contributions received from 

insured persons and reports as expense the amount reimbursed for medical claims under 

the programme. The net assets of the SHIF as at 31 December 2015 were US$61.6 million 

(US$58.4 million in 2014). 

Ex gratia payments 

46.  During 2015, ex gratia payments of US$30,200 (US$25,347 in 2014) were made. 
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2. Approval of the consolidated financial 

statements for the year ended 

31 December 2015 

The consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of and have been prepared by 

Management in accordance with the International Public Sector Accounting Standards and 

comply with the Financial Regulations of the International Labour Organization. They 

include ce1tain amounts that are based on Management's best estimates and judgements. 

Accounting procedures and related systems of internal control, developed by Management,   

provide reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded, that the books and records 

properly reflect all transactions and that overall, policies and procedures are implemented 

with an appropriate segregation of duties. 

The financial governance of the Office includes the review of financial systems and internal 

controls by the ILO's Office of Internal Audit and Oversight, the External Auditor, and by 

the Governing Body and its subsidiary body, the Independent Oversight Advisory 

Committee. The External Auditor also provides an opinion on the Financial Statements 

which is provided in the following section. 

In accordance with Chapter VII of the Financial Regulations and Financial Rule 1.40, the 

consolidated financial statements numbered I to V and the accompanying notes are hereby 

approved and submitted to the Governing Body of the International Labour Office. 

 

 

Approved by : Approved by : 

 

 

Greg Johnson Guy Ryder 

 

Treasurer and Financial Comptroller Director-General 

 

 
29 April 2016 29 April 2016 
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3. Audit opinion of the External Auditor  

to the Governing Body of the  

International Labour Office 
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International Labour Organization 

Statement I 

Consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2015 (US$ millions) 

 Note  2015 2014 

Assets     

Current assets     

Cash and cash equivalents 4, 22  386.0 591.7 

Investments 11, 22  67.5 – 

Assessed contributions receivable 5  86.4 54.9 

Voluntary contributions receivable 6  222.0 234.9 

Derivative assets 7  11.7 10.3 

Other receivables 8  12.2 7.7 

Inventories 9  4.9 6.1 

Investment property 13  28.3 – 

Other current assets 10  14.0 15.1 

   833.0 920.7 

Non-current assets     

Assessed contributions receivable 5  12.7 13.7 

Voluntary contributions receivable 6  45.2 54.7 

Derivative assets 7  12.4 – 

Investments 11, 22  226.3 150.4 

Property and equipment 12  475.9 487.4 

Investment property 13  – 57.6 

Intangible assets 14  2.3 2.1 

   774.8 765.9 

Total assets   1 607.8 1 686.6 
     

Liabilities     

Current liabilities     

Payables and accruals   47.6 31.1 

Deferred revenue 15  439.3 485.0 

Employee benefits 16  50.4 51.3 

Current portion of long-term borrowings 17  3.7 3.8 

Due to member States 18  0.2 0.3 

Derivative liabilities 7  0.1 0.7 

Other current liabilities 19  3.6 9.2 

   544.9 581.4 

Non-current liabilities     

Deferred revenue 15  45.2 54.7 

Employee benefits 16  1 195.8 1 134.4 

Long-term borrowings 17  29.6 32.7 

Due to member States 18  0.8 0.5 

   1 271.4 1 222.3 

Total liabilities   1 816.3 1 803.7 
     

Net assets     

Reserves 20  189.4 200.0 

Accumulated balances 20  (397.9) (317.1) 

Total net assets   (208.5) (117.1) 
 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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International Labour Organization 

Statement II 

Consolidated statement of financial performance for the year ended 31 December 2015 (US$ millions) 

 Note  2015 2014 

Revenue     

Assessed contributions from member States 26, 31  386.7 430.9 

Voluntary contributions 26  260.6 281.1 

ITC training services 26  14.1 17.1 

Staff/retiree benefit contributions   20.3 21.3 

Sales and royalties   10.0 9.5 

Gain on sale of investment property 13  6.1 – 

Investment income   1.7 7.6 

Exchange gain and revaluation, net   12.5 – 

Other income   1.6 4.1 

Total revenue   713.6 771.6 

     

Expenses     

Staff costs 21  414.5 411.2 

Travel 21  31.2 29.0 

Subcontracts 21  127.7 105.0 

General operating expenses 21  44.4 43.0 

Supplies, materials and small equipment 21  13.2 10.1 

Depreciation and amortization 21  4.3 3.5 

Seminars, workshops and other training 21  49.8 43.0 

Staff development 21  5.2 4.1 

Health benefits 21  41.5 40.9 

Contributions and grants in aid 21  10.2 10.3 

Exchange loss and revaluation, net   – 55.7 

Change in fair value of investment property 13  8.4 7.2 

Finance costs 21  2.3 2.9 

Other expenses 21  5.1 2.8 

Total expenses   757.8 768.7 

     

Net surplus (deficit)   (44.2) 2.9 

     

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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International Labour Organization 

Statement III 

Consolidated statement of changes in net assets for the year ended 31 December 2015 (US$ millions) 

  

Note  Reserves Accumulated 
balances 

Total net 
assets 

   

Balance as at 31 December 2013   182.8 (89.8) 93.0 

      

Surplus (deficit) for the year 2014   (2.7) 5.6 2.9 

Repayment of internal borrowing for financing of regular budget deficit in 
2012–13  

 
18.7 (18.7) – 

Change of derivatives   – 25.4 25.4 

Change of revaluation surplus of land and buildings    – 28.3 28.3 

Actuarial gain (loss) of employee benefit liabilities   – (264.0) (264.0) 

Reserve for ASHI funding   1.2 (1.2) – 

Translation difference from consolidation of ITC   – (2.7) (2.7) 

Total 2014 movement   17.2 (227.3) (210.1) 

Balance as at 31 December 2014 20  200.0 (317.1) (117.1) 

      

Surplus (deficit) for the year 2015   5.5 (49.7) (44.2) 

Internal borrowing for financing of regular budget deficit    (16.2) 16.2 – 

Change of derivatives   – 10.7 10.7 

Change of revaluation surplus of land and buildings    – (28.5) (28.5) 

Actuarial gain (loss) of employee benefit liabilities   – (26.7) (26.7) 

Transfer from ITC General Fund to the ITC Working Capital Fund   0.1 (0.1) – 

Transfer to liabilities due to member States of period 2015   – (0.4) (0.4) 

Translation difference from consolidation of ITC   – (2.3) (2.3) 

Total 2015 movement   (10.6) (80.8) (91.4) 

Balance as at 31 December 2015 20  189.4 (397.9) (208.5) 

      

 The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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International Labour Organization 

Statement IV 

Consolidated statement of cash flow for the year ended 31 December 2015 (US$ millions) 

 2015 2014 

Cash flows from operating activities   

Surplus (deficit) for the year  (44.2) 2.9 

Non-cash movements:    

Depreciation and amortization 4.3 3.5 

Change in fair value of investment property 8.4 7.2 

(Increase) decrease in assessed contributions receivable  (30.5) 29.7 

(Increase) decrease in voluntary contributions receivable  22.4 24.8 

(Increase) decrease in derivative instruments (3.7) 0.2 

(Increase) decrease in other receivables  (4.5) 3.3 

(Increase) decrease in inventories 1.2 1.7 

(Increase) decrease in other assets  1.0 (3.4) 

Increase (decrease) in payables and accruals  16.5 (32.8) 

Increase (decrease) in deferred revenue  (55.2) (26.6) 

Increase (decrease) in employee benefits  33.7 21.3 

Increase (decrease) in due to member States  0.2 (2.1) 

Increase (decrease) in other liabilities  (5.6) 2.1 

(Gain) loss in sale of investment property (6.1) – 

Increase (decrease) in investment portfolios 1.0 0.1 

Increase (decrease) in borrowings  0.8 (3.5) 

Transfer to liabilities due to member States (0.4) – 

Effect of exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents  2.9 32.0 

Net cash flows from operating activities  (57.8) 60.4 
   

Cash flows from investing activities   

Proceed from sale of investments 2.8 – 

Proceed from sale of investment property 27.0 – 

Purchase of investments (147.1) (30.0) 

Additions of property and equipment (22.0) (17.2) 

Additions of intangible assets (0.8) (1.2) 

Net cash flows from investing activities  (140.1) (48.4) 
   

Cash flows from financing activities   

Repayment of borrowings  (3.9) (3.8) 

Net cash flows from financing activities  (3.9) (3.8) 
   

Effect of exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents (3.9) (33.2) 

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (205.7) (25.0) 

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period 591.7 616.7 

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period 386.0 591.7 
   

UUS$0.8 million of interest received is included in the net cash flows from operating activities (2014 = US$1.1 million). 
 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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International Labour Organization 

Statement V-A 

Statement of comparison of budget and actual amounts 1 
Regular budget for the year ended 31 December 2015 (US$ thousands) 

  

2015 
original 2 

budget 

2015 
final 
budget 3 

2015 
actual 

2015 
difference 4 

 2014–15 
original 
and final 
budget 

 2014–15 
actual 

2014–15 
difference 4 

Revenue          

Assessed contributions 400 630 400 630 400 630 –  801 260  801 260 – 

Total revenue 400 630 400 630 400 630 –  801 260  801 260 – 

          

Expenses          

Part I – Ordinary budget          

A. Policy-making organs 41 234 44 984 36 866 (8 118)  82 469  74 351 (8 118) 

B. Strategic objectives 306 146 339 598 332 966 (6 632)  612 292  605 660 (6 632) 

C. Management services 30 998 32 054 31 988 (66)  61 995  61 929 (66) 

D. Other budgetary provisions 23 401 24 981 22 478 (2 503)  46 802  44 299 (2 503) 

Adjustment for staff turnover 5 (3 299) (6 599) – 6 599  (6 599)  – 6 599 

Total Part I 398 480 435 018 424 298 (10 720)  796 959  786 239 (10 720) 
          

Part II – Unforeseen expenditure 437 875 – (875)  875  – (875) 

Part IV –  Institutional investments 
 and extraordinary items 1 713 – – – 

 
3 426 

 
3 426 – 

Total expenses (Parts I, II and IV) 400 630 435 893 424 298 (11 595)  801 260  789 665 (11 595) 

         

Surplus at budgetary rate of exchange        11 595  

Revaluation of the budgetary surplus       (480)  

Surplus at UN operational rate of exchange       11 115  

Surplus resulting from the receipt of contributions in an amount 
higher than approved regular budget  

 
(10 509)  

Reimbursement of 2012–13 deficit financing 6       (16 806)  

Net surplus (deficit) 7       (16 200)  

         

1 Budget and actual information calculated at budgetary rate of exchange of US$1 = CHF0.95. 
2 Original budget represents one half of the biennial budget adopted by the ILC. 
3 Final budget represents one half of the approved budget adopted by the International Labour Conference plus the balance remaining unspent at the 
end of the first year of the biennium. 
4 Significant differences between budget and actual are explained in the accompanying financial report on the 2015 accounts. 
5 Staff turnover is an undistributed adjustment to reduce the overall level of the budget in recognition of inevitable delays in recruitment. Managed 
underspending against appropriation lines offsets this undistributed adjustment. 
6 As at 31 December 2013, in accordance with article 21.1(a) of the Financial Regulations, the deficit of CHF16.655 million was covered by the Working 
Capital Fund. In accordance with article 21.2(a) of the Financial Regulations, arrears of contributions received in 2014 were used to reimburse the 
Working Capital Fund. 
7 In accordance with article 21.1(a) of the Financial Regulations, the Working Capital Fund was drawn upon to finance budgetary expenditure pending 
receipt of contributions. The nominal balance of this Fund standing at CHF35.000 million (US$35.318 million), as a consequence, decreased to 
CHF18.945 million (US$19.118 million). In accordance with article 21.2(a) of the Financial Regulations, arrears of contributions received in 2016 will 
be used to reimburse the Working Capital Fund. 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements 



Consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2015 

ILC.105/FIN  29 

 

International Labour Organization 

Statement V-B 

Statement of comparison of budget and actual amounts 
Inter-American Centre for Knowledge Development in Vocational Training (CINTERFOR) 
for the year ended 31 December 2015 (US$ thousands) 

 

2015  
original 1 
budget 

2015 
final 2 

budget 

2015 
actual 

2015 
difference 3 

2014–15 
original and 
final budget 

2014–15 
actual 

2014–15 
difference 3 

Accumulated balance, beginning 525 832 832 –    598 587 (11) 

        

Revenue        

Contribution from ILO regular budget 1 144 
 

1 144 
  

 1 144 
        

–  
 

2 287 
 

2 287 –  

Contribution from host country and 
other countries in the region 350 

 
112 513 401 700 1 101 401 

Sales of publications and services 25 48 –    (48) 50 2 (48) 

Miscellaneous income 5 13 10 (3) 10 7 (3) 

Total revenue 1 524 1 317 1 667 350 3 047 3 397 350 

        

Expenses        

Expenditure 1 595 1 706 1 586 (120) 3 191 3 071 (120) 

Total expenses 1 595 1 706 1 586 (120) 3 191 3 071 (120) 

        

Net surplus (deficit) (71) (389) 81 470 (144) 326 470 

        

Accumulated balance, ending 454 443 913 470 454 913 459 

        

1 The original budget represents one half of the biennial budget adopted by the ILO Governing Body. 
2 Final budget represents one half of the approved budget adopted by the ILO Governing Body plus the balance remaining unspent at the end of the 
first year of the biennium for the contribution from the ILO and expenditure. 
3 Differences between budget and actual are explained in the accompanying financial report on the 2015 accounts. 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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International Labour Organization 

Statement V-C 

Statement of comparison of budget and actual amounts  
International Training Centre of the ILO (ITC) for the year ended 31 December 2015 

 
2015 
budget 

2015 
actual 

Budget 
variance 1  

2015 
budget 

2015 
actual 

Budget 
variance 1 

  (in € thousands)  (in US$ thousands) 2 

Revenue        

Voluntary contributions  11 134 11 812 678  12 316 13 066 750 

Earned revenue 26 900 28 037 1 137  29 757 31 014 1 257 

Use of surplus 1 331 748 (583)  1 472 827 (645) 

Total budget revenue 39 365 40 597 1 232  43 545 44 907 1 362 
        

Expenditure        

Staff costs 17 841 17 962 121  19 736 19 869 133 

Fixed expenses 6 360 6 452 92  7 035 7 137 102 

Variable expenditures 14 850 14 458 (392)  16 427 15 993 (434) 

Total operating expenditures 39 051 38 872 (179)  43 198 42 999 (199) 
        

Budget surplus 3 314 1 725 1 411  347 1 908 1 561 

        

Other items        

Change in provision for doubtful accounts – (163) (163)  – (180) (180) 

Exchange gain (loss) and revaluation, net – (175) (175)  – (194) (194) 

Total other items – (338) (338)  – (374) (374) 

        

Net budget surplus 3 314 1 387 1 073  347 1 534 1 187 

        

1 Budget variances are explained in the accompanying financial report on the 2015 accounts of the ITC. 
2 The revenue and expenditure of the ITC are consolidated using an average rate of US$1 = €0.904 for the reporting period (US$1 = €0.752 for 2014). 
3 As referred to in Financial Regulations 7(4) of the ITC. 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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Note 1 – Objectives and activities 

1.  The International Labour Organization (ILO) was founded in 1919 to promote social 

justice and internationally recognized human and labour rights. In 1947, the ILO became 

the first specialized agency of the United Nations (UN) system based upon an agreement 

between the Organization and the UN adopted in accordance with Article 57 of the United 

Nations Charter.  

2.  The ILO formulates international labour standards in the form of Conventions and 

Recommendations. These include fundamental standards on freedom of association and 

collective bargaining, abolition of forced labour, equality of opportunity and treatment, 

and the elimination of child labour. Other standards regulate conditions across the entire 

spectrum of work-related issues. The ILO provides advisory services and technical 

assistance, primarily in the fields of: child labour; employment policy; training and skills 

development and vocational rehabilitation; enterprise development; social security; 

industrial relations; and labour statistics. It promotes the development of independent 

employers’ and workers’ organizations, and provides training and advisory services to 

those organizations. It serves as a centre of information on the world of work, and to this 

end conducts research, gathers and analyses statistics, organizes meetings, and publishes 

a range of information and training materials. 

3.  The ILO was established pursuant to its Constitution originally adopted in 1919 and 

is governed by the International Labour Conference (ILC) which consists of 

representatives of all the member States, and by the Governing Body elected by the ILC. 

The ILC of representatives of the Members is convened annually. Within the UN system, 

the ILO has a unique tripartite structure with workers and employers participating as equal 

partners with governments in the work of its governing organs. 

4.  The ILO’s headquarters is in Geneva, Switzerland, and it maintains external offices 

in over 50 countries. In accordance with its headquarters agreement with the Government 

of Switzerland and the United Nations Convention on Privileges and Immunities for 

Specialized Agencies (1947 Convention) the Organization is exempt from most taxes and 

customs duties imposed by its member States. 

5.  The financial statements consolidate all of the operations under the direct authority 

of the Director-General including the regular budget, reserves, extra-budgetary funded 

activities, the Inter-American Centre for Knowledge Development in Vocational Training 

(CINTERFOR) and the International Training Centre of the ILO (ITC) along with the 

Administrative Tribunal of the ILO and the ILO Staff Health Insurance Fund (SHIF). 

6.  Controlled entity: The ITC was established by the Governing Body of the ILO and 

the Government of Italy in 1964. The Centre is headquartered in Turin, Italy. The Centre 

provides training and related services to UN agencies, governments and non-governmental 

organizations designed to develop human resources and improve institutional capabilities. 

The Centre is principally financed from contributions from the ILO regular budget and 

development cooperation projects, from the Government of Italy and from charges for 

training services provided. The Centre produces separate financial statements at the same 

reporting date as the ILO. 
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Note 2 – Accounting policies 

Basis of preparation and presentation 

7.  The consolidated financial statements of the ILO have been prepared in accordance 

with International Public Sector Accounting Standards (IPSAS) and comply with the ILO 

Financial Regulations. 

8.  The consolidated financial statements are prepared on an accrual basis. 

9.  The transitional provisions on Property and equipment (IPSAS-17) have been 

applied in the initial recognition of equipment purchased before 1 January 2012. 

Equipment acquired prior to 1 January 2012 was expensed at the date of purchase and its 

value has not been recognized as an asset.  

Financial period  

10.  The Organization’s financial period for budgetary purposes is a biennium consisting 

of two consecutive calendar years. The consolidated financial statements are prepared 

annually. 

Financial statement presentation 

11.  The functional and presentation currency of the Organization is the United States 

(US) dollar. The consolidated financial statements are expressed in millions of US dollars 

unless otherwise indicated.  

Measurement uncertainty  

12.  The preparation of consolidated financial statements in accordance with IPSAS 

requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts 

of assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and the reported 

amounts of revenue and expenses for the year. Investments and derivatives, property, and 

employee benefit liabilities are the most significant items where estimates are used. Actual 

results could differ significantly from these estimates. 

Significant accounting policies 

Borrowings  

13.  Borrowings are classified as financial liabilities initially measured at fair value and 

subsequently measured at amortized cost. Interest and other expenses incurred in 

connection with the borrowing of funds to directly finance the acquisition or construction 

of assets are capitalized as part of the cost of the asset. 

Cash and cash equivalents 

14.  Cash comprises cash on hand and demand deposits; cash equivalents are short-term, 

highly liquid investments with maturity less than 90 days as at the reporting date and are 

readily convertible to known amounts of cash.  

Consolidation  

15.  The accounts of the ITC have been consolidated into the consolidated financial 

statements of the ILO. 

16.  The functional currency of the ITC is the euro. For the purposes of consolidation, 

the balances of the ITC assets, liabilities and net assets are converted from the euro to the 

US dollar at the UN operational rate of exchange as at the reporting date. Revenues and 

expenses are converted from the euro to the US dollar using the average UN operational 
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rate for the reporting period. Gains and losses on exchange resulting from the 

consolidation of ITC euro-based accounts into the ILO’s US dollar-based consolidated 

financial statements are recognized in net assets. 

Contingent asset  

17.  Contingent assets are probable assets that arise from past events, whose existence 

will be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain 

future events not wholly within the control of the Organization. They are disclosed in the 

notes to the consolidated financial statements.  

Derivatives  

18.  The ILO uses derivative financial instruments, such as forward purchase agreements 

to hedge its foreign currency risks. These financial instruments are initially recognized at 

fair value on the date on which a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently 

re-measured at fair value at the end of the financial period. Derivatives are carried as 

financial assets when the fair value is positive and as financial liabilities when the fair 

value is negative. Any gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of derivatives 

are recognized on the consolidated statement of financial performance, except for the 

effective portion of cash flow hedges (see below), which is recognized in net assets and 

later reclassified to the consolidated statement of financial performance when the hedge 

item affects profit or loss.  

19.  The ILO designates its regular budget forward purchase agreements as a cash flow 

hedge and applies hedge accounting as below: 

 The effective portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument (forward purchase 

agreement) is recognized in net assets, while any ineffective portion is recognized 

immediately in the consolidated statement of financial performance as exchange gain 

(loss) and revaluation, net. The effectiveness of the hedge is tested prospectively and 

retrospectively, whereby the ratio of the change in the fair value of the hedged cash 

flows is attributed to the change in the spot US dollar to Swiss franc (CHF) rate. The 

testing is conducted at the inception of the hedge and at each reporting date.  

 Amounts recognized in net assets are transferred to the consolidated statement of 

financial performance when the forecast transaction (recognition of assessed 

contribution) occurs.  

 If the hedging instrument is exercised, or if its designation as a hedge is revoked, or 

when the hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, any cumulative 

gain or loss previously recognized remains in net assets until the forecast transaction 

occurs. 

 Hedge accounting is also discontinued when the forecasted transaction is no longer 

expected to occur in which case any cumulative gain or loss that was recognized in 

net assets is immediately transferred to the consolidated statement of financial 

performance as exchange gain (loss) and revaluation. 

Due to member States  

20.  A liability is established to reflect the amounts payable to member States for 

undistributed net surpluses, undistributed net premia at the end of each biennium, and the 

incentive fund at the end of each reporting period.  

 At the end of the first year of each biennium a calculation is made of the amount that 

would have been due to member States, and this amount is reflected as a component 

of accumulated fund balance.  
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 At the end of the second year of each biennium the amount is recognized as a liability 

to member States in accordance with the provisions of the Financial Regulations.  

Employee benefits  

21.  The ILO recognizes the following categories of employee benefits: 

Post-employment benefits 

22.  Post-employment benefits are employee benefits that are payable after the 

completion of employment. The ILO is a member organization participating in the United 

Nations Joint Staff Pension Fund (UNJSPF), which was established by the United Nations 

General Assembly to provide retirement, death, disability and related benefits to 

employees. The Pension Fund is a funded, multi-employer defined benefit plan. As 

specified by article 3(b) of the Regulations of the Fund, membership in the Fund shall be 

open to the specialized agencies and to any other international, intergovernmental 

organization which participates in the common system of salaries, allowances and other 

conditions of service of the United Nations (UN) and the specialized agencies.  

23.  The plan exposes participating organizations to actuarial risks associated with the 

current and former employees of other organizations participating in the Fund, with the 

result that there is no consistent and reliable basis for allocating the obligation, plan assets, 

and costs to individual organizations participating in the plan. The ILO, in line with the 

other participating organizations in the Fund, is not in a position to identify its share of the 

defined benefit obligation, plan assets and the costs associated with the plan with sufficient 

reliability for accounting purposes. Hence, the ILO has treated this plan as if it were a 

defined contribution plan in line with the requirements of IPSAS-25. The ILO’s 

contributions to the plan during the financial period are recognized as expenses in the 

consolidated statement of financial performance. 

24.  The ILO’s defined benefit plans comprise the after service health insurance (ASHI) 

plan and repatriation entitlements, which include repatriation grant and end-of-service 

benefits along with travel and shipping costs upon termination. The liability recognized 

for these plans is the present value of the defined benefit obligations at the reporting date. 

The ASHI liability, repatriation grant and end-of-service benefits are calculated by an 

independent actuary using the Projected Unit Credit Method. 

25.  Interest cost and past and current service costs are recognized on the consolidated 

statement of financial performance as a component of staff costs. Actuarial gains or losses 

arising from changes in actuarial assumptions or experience adjustments are directly 

recognized in net assets.  

Short-term employee benefits 

26.  Short-term employee benefits comprise first-time employee benefits, regular 

monthly benefits (for example salaries and allowances), compensated absences, other 

short-term benefits (for example education grant and home leave). An expense is 

recognized when employees render service to the Organization and a liability is 

recognized for any entitlement that has not been settled at the reporting date. Short-term 

employee benefit liabilities are expected to be settled within 12 months of the reporting 

date. They are recognized as current liabilities and are measured at an undiscounted 

amount. 

Other long-term employee benefits 

27.  Other long-term employee benefits are benefits, or portions of benefits, that are not 

due to be settled within 12 months after the end of the year in which employees render the 
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related services. Such benefits include the portion of the accumulated leave balances that 

is not expected to be settled within 12 months of the reporting date. They are recognized 

as non-current liabilities.  

Foreign currency transactions 

28.  Transactions carried out during the financial period in currencies other than the US 

dollar are converted to US dollars using the UN operational rate of exchange in effect on 

the date of each transaction. These rates approximate market rates. 

29.  Balances of monetary assets and liabilities maintained in currencies other than the 

US dollar are converted to US dollars at the UN operational rate of exchange applicable 

at the reporting date, which approximates the market rate. Exchange differences arising 

on the settlement of monetary items and unrealized gains or losses from revaluation of 

monetary assets and liabilities are recognized on the consolidated statement of financial 

performance except for gains and losses on exchange arising on effective cash flow hedges 

at the reporting date which are recognized in net assets. 

30.  Balances of non-monetary assets and liabilities carried at historical cost are 

converted using the UN operational rate of exchange at the date of the transaction. Non-

monetary items that are measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using 

the UN operational rate at the date when the fair value is determined. Exchange gains or 

losses from the revaluation of property are recognized in net assets. Exchange gains or 

losses from the revaluation of investment property are recognized in the consolidated 

statement of financial performance as “Change in fair value of investment property”. 

31.  Exchange gains and losses, except those on investment property that are disclosed 

separately, are presented on a net basis on the consolidated statement of financial 

performance as revenue if a gain or as an expense if a loss. 

32.  On the statement of comparison of budget and actual amounts for the regular budget 

(Statement V-A), revenue and expenses incurred in Swiss francs is reflected at a budgetary 

rate of exchange fixed by the ILC for the biennium.  

Impairment  

33.  Cash-generating assets are those held for the purpose of generating a commercial 

return. Provisions are established to recognize impairment, if necessary. Non-cash-

generating assets including land, buildings, equipment, intangible assets and leasehold 

improvements are not held for future sale. Impairment reviews are undertaken for all assets 

at least annually to determine if there is any impairment in their value.  

Inventory 

34.  Publications held for free distribution are valued at the lower of cost and current 

replacement cost. Publications held for sale are valued at the lower of cost and net 

realizable value. If net realizable value is lower than cost, the difference is recognized as 

an expense on the consolidated statement of financial performance. The value of 

publications is written off when they are considered damaged or after two years when they 

are considered obsolete and this is an expense on the consolidated statement of financial 

performance. The cost of publications is calculated using the weighted average cost. The 

cost of paper and other supplies used in the production process is calculated using the first-

in, first-out method formula.  

Intangible assets  

35.  Intangible assets are recognized at historical cost and amortized over their useful life 

of three to five years using the straight line method. Externally acquired software are 
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recognized as intangible assets if their cost per user equalled or was greater than US$5,000. 

Internally developed software are recognized as intangible assets if their cost equalled or 

was greater than US$200,000 for the ILO and €40,000 for the ITC.  

Investments  

36.  Investments are designated as financial assets at fair value through surplus or deficit 

and measured at fair value as at the reporting date. Realized and unrealized gains or losses 

arising from the change of market value of investments and revenue from interest and 

dividends are recognized in the consolidated statement of financial performance in the 

period in which they arise. Investments are classified as current or non-current assets 

according to the time horizon of the investment objectives. If the time horizon is less than 

or equal to one year, they are classified as current assets, and if it is more than one year, 

they are classified as non-current assets.  

Investment property  

37.  Investment properties are initially recognized at cost and subsequently measured at 

fair value based upon market conditions at the reporting date.  

38.  Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of investment properties are 

recognized in the consolidated statement of financial performance in the period in which 

they arise.  

39.  Investment properties are derecognized either on disposal of or when they are 

permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefit or service potential is 

expected from their disposal. The difference between the net disposal proceeds and the 

carrying amount of the asset is recognized in the consolidated statement of financial 

performance in the period of derecognition.  

40.  Transfers are made to (or from) investment property only when there is a change in 

use. If owner–occupied property becomes an investment property, such property is 

accounted for in accordance with the policy stated under property and equipment up to the 

date of change in use. 

Leases 

41.  Lease agreements entered into for equipment or office premises are classified as 

operating leases unless they substantially transfer all of the risk and reward of ownership. 

Lease charges for operating leases are recognized on the consolidated statement of 

financial performance as general operating expenses, based on the terms of the agreements 

for the period concerned so as to reflect the time pattern of benefit to the ILO.  

Payables and accruals 

42.  Payables are financial liabilities for goods or services that have been received but 

not paid by the reporting date. Payables and accruals are of a short-term nature and are 

recognized at cost as the effect of discounting is not considered material. 

Property and equipment 

43.  Property and equipment include the followings classes of assets: 

 Equipment: Equipment is recorded at historical cost and presented at depreciated 

cost. Equipment is capitalized and recognized as an asset if its cost exceeds or is 

equal to a threshold of US$5,000. 

 Land and buildings: Land and buildings are valued at fair value based upon an 

external and independent valuation conducted annually. The net difference between 
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historical cost and fair value for land and buildings is accounted for in a revaluation 

surplus which forms a separate component of net assets.  

 Leasehold improvement: Leasehold improvements are recorded at historical cost and 

presented at depreciated cost. Leasehold improvements are capitalized and 

recognized as an asset if their cost exceeds or is equal to a threshold of US$50,000. 

44.  The value of heritage assets, including donated works of art, is not recognized as an 

asset on the consolidated statement of financial position. 

45.  Property and equipment are derecognized either on disposal of or when they are 

permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefit or service potential is 

expected from their disposal. The difference between the net disposal proceeds and the 

carrying amount of the asset is recognized in the consolidated statement of financial 

performance in the period of derecognition. 

46.  Depreciation of property and equipment is recognized over the estimated useful life 

of the assets using the straight line method, except for land which is not subject to 

depreciation. Depreciation of buildings is calculated based on the fair value at the 

beginning of the reporting year using the remaining useful life at that date. When a 

building is revalued, any accumulated depreciation at the date of revaluation is eliminated 

against the gross carrying amount of the building and the net amount restated to the 

revalued amount. The estimated useful lives for property and equipment are as follows: 

Class Estimated useful life (years) 

Buildings   

ILO headquarters (by component) 15–150 

Field offices 20–85 

Equipment 5–10  

Leasehold improvements Lower of estimated useful life (15–30) and term of lease 

Provisions and contingent liability  

47.  Provisions are recognized for contingent liabilities when the ILO has a present legal 

or constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is more likely than not that an 

outflow of resources will be required to settle that obligation, and the amount can be 

reliably estimated. The amount of the provision is the best estimate of the expenditure 

required to settle the present obligation at the reporting date. 

48.  Contingent liabilities are disclosed where a possible obligation is uncertain but can 

be measured, or where the ILO has a present obligation but cannot reliably measure the 

possible outflow of resources. 

Revenues and receivables from non-exchange transactions 

and deferred revenue 

49.  Revenues and receivables from non-exchange transactions are recognized as follows: 

 Assessed contributions  

– Prior to the beginning of each financial period the ILO assesses each member 

State in accordance with article 13 of the ILO Constitution for its share of the 

regular budget. Contributions are calculated and payable in Swiss francs equal 

to the total amount of the Organization’s regular budget for the biennial 

financial period, payable one half at the beginning of each year of the biennium. 
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Revenue from assessed contributions is recognized as one half of the total on 

1 January of each year of the biennium.  

– Assessed contributions adopted by the ILC but not recognized as revenue at 

the reporting date are disclosed as contingent assets since the inflow of 

resources is probable. 

– A provision is established equal to the contributions of former member States 

and member States that are more than two years in arrears and have lost the 

right to vote under the ILO’s Constitution. In Statement II, the assessed 

contributions from member States are presented net of change in provision. 

– Receivables from member States that have negotiated long-term financial 

arrangements with the ILO’s Governing Body are measured initially at fair 

value after deducting any provision for impairment and collectability and 

subsequently valued at amortized cost using the effective interest rate 

methodology. 

– Assessed contributions received in advance represent amounts received from 

member States for contributions related to future financial periods and are 

classified as deferred revenue. 

 Voluntary contributions  

– Voluntary contributions with no conditions are recognized as receivables and 

as revenue upon the signature of the agreement. 

– Voluntary contributions to development cooperation projects are normally 

subject to conditions related to performance. Upon signature of the agreement, 

a receivable and a liability (deferred revenue) are initially recognized at fair 

value and subsequently measured at amortized cost which is obtained through 

discounting as appropriate. 

– Funds received from donors subject to conditions are carried as a liability. 

Revenue is recognized when the conditions stated in the agreement have been 

met. Unexpended balances of funds held on behalf of donors at the reporting 

date are recognized as a liability (due to donors under deferred revenue). 

– Contributions received from donors for projects that form part of the Regular 

Budget Supplementary Account (RBSA) are normally unconditional, and are 

recognized as revenue and a receivable when the agreements are signed 

between the ILO and the donor. However, if conditions requiring specific 

performance are imposed by a donor to the RBSA, recognition of revenue is 

deferred until the performance requirement has been satisfied. 

– Contributions to the RBSA covering future periods are disclosed as contingent 

assets if the inflow of contribution to the ILO is probable at the reporting date. 

 Gifts and grants 

– The ILO receives non-conditional contributions in cash from member States 

and non-governmental organizations. These gifts and grants are recognized as 

voluntary contribution revenue when an agreement is signed between the ILO 

and a donor or on the receipt of cash if no agreement is signed by both parties. 

 Training services  

– The ITC provides training services under contracts to governments and 

organizations including the ILO. The services are subsidized by non-
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conditional voluntary contributions which provide support to the ITC’s 

operations. The services are considered conditional non-exchange transactions. 

Training activities that include restrictions on their use are recognized as 

revenue upon signing of a binding agreement. Agreements for which the Centre 

has full control and that include conditions, including the implicit or explicit 

obligation to return funds if such conditions are not met, are recognized as 

assets and liabilities (deferred revenue) upon signature of a binding agreement. 

The liability is reduced and revenue is recognized based on the proportion that 

expenses incurred bear to the estimated total expenses of the training activity.  

– Probable inflows of resources from voluntary contributions and training 

activities that have not been recognized as assets are disclosed as a contingent 

asset. 

 Contributions in-kind  

– Goods in-kind are recognized at fair value at the date of receipt. In-kind 

contributions of services are not recognized.  

– Right to use of land, office space and other facilities received from member 

States are disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial statements. 

 Programme support income  

– Voluntary contributions accepted by the ILO include a charge for services 

provided by the ILO covering costs of administrative and operational support 

services, generally calculated as a percentage of total direct project costs. 

Revenue from programme support services is considered a non-exchange 

transaction and is recognized when earned through performance. 

Revenue from exchange transactions 

50.  Revenue from exchange transactions is recognized as follows: 

 Sales and royalties: Revenue is recognized on the date earned. Revenue related to 

the provision of services is valued based upon the stage of completion measured 

based upon the total costs incurred by the Organization in delivering the services at 

the reporting date. Sales of publications are recognized when the publication has 

been shipped to the purchaser. A provision for doubtful debts is established equal to 

50 per cent of the amount outstanding from one year to two years and 100 per cent 

of the amount outstanding for more than two years unless the Organization receives 

from the debtor a written confirmation of the amount due with a planned date of 

payment. 

 Investment income: Interest income, earned based on a time-proportionate basis as it 

accrues taking into account the effective yield on the asset, gains and losses from 

sales of investments and changes of investment market value are recognized in the 

consolidated statement of financial performance in the period that they arise.  

 Staff/retiree benefit contributions are recognized on the date the revenue becomes 

due in accordance with the Administrative Regulations of the Staff Health Insurance 

Fund (SHIF). 
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Note 3 – Accounting standards issued but not yet effective 

51.  In 2015, the International Public Sector Accounting Standards Board (IPSASB) 

published the following five new standards on accounting for interest in other entities, 

effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017, with earlier application 

permitted:  

 IPSAS 34, Separate Financial Statements: Prescribes the accounting and disclosure 

requirements for investments in controlled entities, joint ventures and associates. 

 IPSAS 35, Consolidated Financial Statements: Establishes principles for the 

presentation and preparation of consolidated financial statements.  

 IPSAS 36, Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures: Prescribes the accounting 

for investments in associates and joint ventures and to set out the requirements for 

the application of the equity method when accounting for investments in associates 

and joint ventures.  

 IPSAS 37, Joint Arrangements: Establishes principles for financial reporting by 

entities that have an interest in arrangements that are controlled jointly.  

 IPSAS 38, Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities: Prescribes the disclosure 

requirements to enable users of the financial statements to evaluate the nature of, and 

risks associated with, interests in other entities and the effects of those interest on its 

financial position, financial performance and cash flow.   

52.  These five standards will replace current requirements in:  

 IPSAS 6, Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements;  

 IPSAS 7, Investments in Associates;  

 IPSAS 8, Interests in Joint Ventures. 

53.  The ILO has not adopted the new standards that are not yet effective. 

54.  The ILO believes that the adoption of these standards will not have a significant 

impact on the financial statements. 

Note 4 – Cash and cash equivalents 

55.  Cash required for immediate disbursement is maintained in cash and bank accounts. 

Cash equivalent balances in deposit accounts are available at short notice. Cash and cash 

equivalents as at the reporting date are as follows: 

(US$ millions)  US$ CHF € Other 2015 total 2014 total 

Current accounts and cash on hand 59.3 144.5 10.0 11.5 225.3 338.7 

Short-term deposits 100.2 60.5 – – 160.7 253.0 

Total cash and deposits 159.5 205.0 10.0 11.5 386.0 591.7  
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Note 5 – Assessed contributions receivable 

56.  Assessed contributions receivable as at the reporting date are as follows: 

(US$ millions) 2015  2014 

Assessed contributions receivable (notes 30,31) 112.5 83.2 

Less: Advance payments received from member States with financial arrangements 
(note 30) (0.9) (1.0) 

Less: Amortization of long-term financial arrangements (1.6) (1.8) 

Less: Provision for doubtful collection of contributions (10.9) (11.8) 

Total net receivable 99.1 68.6 

   

■ Assessed contributions receivable – Current 86.4 54.9 

■ Assessed contributions receivable – Non-current 12.7 13.7 

57.  Non-current contributions receivable represent amounts due from member States 

with financial arrangements approved by the ILC net of amortization and provision. 

58.  An ageing of the assessed contributions receivable is as follows: 

(US$ millions) 2015 2014 

Less than 1 year 70.3 47.2 

1–2 years 15.1 6.8 

Over 2 years 26.2 28.2 

Less provision for doubtful debts and amortization (12.5) (13.6) 

Total 99.1 68.6 

Note 6 – Voluntary contributions receivable 

59.  As at the reporting date, voluntary contributions receivable are as follows (note 15):  

(US$ millions) 2015 2014 

Voluntary contributions receivable – Current   

Development cooperation projects (all with conditions) 217.1 228.8 

ITC training services 4.8 5.5 

Unrestricted grants to ITC 0.1 0.6 

Subtotal voluntary contributions receivable – Current 222.0 234.9 
   

Voluntary contributions receivable – Non-current   

Development cooperation projects (all with conditions) 44.8 54.1 

ITC training services 0.4 0.6 

Subtotal voluntary contributions receivable – Non-current 45.2 54.7 
   

Total voluntary contributions receivable 267.2 289.6 
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Note 7 – Derivative assets and liabilities 

60.  As at the reporting date the ILO has the following derivative assets and liabilities: 

(US$ millions) 2015 2014 

Derivative assets   

ILO forward purchase agreement within the portfolio – Current 0.2 – 

ILO regular budget forward purchase agreement – Current 11.5 10.3 

ILO regular budget forward purchase agreement – Non-current 12.4 – 

Total derivative assets 24.1 10.3 
   

Derivative liabilities    

SHIF forward purchase agreement – Current 0.1 0.7 

Total derivative liabilities  0.1 0.7 

61.  The contractual amount and maturity of the outstanding derivative instruments as at 

the reporting date are as follows: 

Derivative instrument Maturity Contractual amount  
(US$ millions) 

SHIF forward purchase agreement Within the next three months 47.5 

ILO forward purchase agreement within the portfolio Within the next three months 3.8 

ILO regular budget forward purchase agreement Within the next 12 months 154.8 

ILO regular budget forward purchase agreement Within the following next 12 months 162.9 

SHIF forward purchase agreement 

62.  The risk related to financial assets held on behalf of SHIF in currencies other than 

Swiss franc is hedged by purchasing forward purchase agreements in each of the other 

currencies in which investments are held. 

ILO forward purchase agreement within the portfolio 

63.  The risk related to financial assets held in the portfolio in currencies other than US 

dollar is minimized by hedging the risk using derivative instruments. 

ILO regular budget forward purchase agreement 

64.  The primary source of revenue to finance the Organization’s regular budget activities 

comes from contributions assessed on member States that are paid in Swiss francs. Prior 

to the beginning of each biennial financial period, the Organization hedges its forecast US 

dollar requirements for the following two years with foreign exchange forward purchases. 

Derivative financial instruments in the form of forward purchase agreements are therefore 

acquired for the purpose of ensuring that the amount of Swiss francs receivable from 

member States for their assessed contributions for the following biennium are sufficient 

to meet the ILO’s US dollar requirements for its regular budget. The forward purchase 

agreements mature monthly and the monthly amounts are established based on the regular 

budget’s forecast US dollar cash flow requirements over the biennium.  
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65.  The ILO regular budget forward purchase agreements are designated as cash flow 

hedges. The changes of derivatives’ value during the period was as follows:  

(US$ millions) 2015 2014 

Fair value as at 1 January  10.3 (16.6) 

Derivatives exercised during the period and recognised in net asset (9.0) 7.8 

Derivatives exercised during the period and recognised in surplus (deficit) (1.3) 0.4 

Change in fair value of the spot element recognized in net assets 19.7 17.6 

Change in fair value of the forward element recognized in surplus (deficit) 4.2 1.1 

Total fair value as at 31 December 23.9 10.3 

66.  The cash flow hedges were highly effective in 2015. The amount reclassified from 

net assets and included in the consolidated statement of financial performance as exchange 

gain (loss) and the amounts retained in net assets at the end of the year are as follows: 

Net assets: Value of outstanding derivatives (US$ millions) 2015 2014 

Opening balance as at 1 January (note 20) 9.0 (16.4) 

Reclassification during the year to exchange gain (loss) and revaluation, net 
(effective hedge of the spot element – transactions realized during the period) (9.0) 7.8 

Net gain (loss) during the year recognized in net assets 
(effective hedge of the spot element – forecasted transactions for 2016 and 2017) 19.7 17.6 

Closing balance as at 31 December (note 20) 19.7 9.0 

67.  The amounts retained in net assets as at 31 December 2015 are expected to mature 

and affect the consolidated statement of financial performance in 2016 and 2017 at the 

recognition of respectively the 2016 and 2017 assessed contributions from member States.  

Note 8 – Other receivables 

68.  Other receivables are as follows: 

(US$ millions)  2015 2014 

US income taxes 6.1 3.6 

Receivable from UNDP 1.7 1.0 

Other receivables 4.4 3.1 

Total other receivables 12.2 7.7 

69.  An ageing of other receivables is as follows: 

(US$ millions) 2015 2014 

Less than 1 year 8.0 5.8 

1–2 years 2.3 0.3 

Over 2 years 1.9 1.6 

Total 12.2 7.7 
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Note 9 – Inventories 

70.  The movement of inventories during the reporting period is as follows: 

(US$ millions) Production supplies  Publications 2015 total 2014 total  

Balance as at 1 January  0.4 5.7 6.1 7.8 

Produced and purchased  0.2 7.5 7.7 8.1 

Inventory available 0.6 13.2 13.8 15.9 

Less: Expensed  (0.3) (4.8) (5.1) (6.1) 

Less: Write-down  – (1.3) (1.3) (0.8) 

Less: Write-off  – (2.5) (2.5) (2.9) 

Balance as at 31 December  0.3 4.6 4.9 6.1 

Note 10 – Other current assets 

71.  Other current assets as at the reporting date are as follows: 

(US$ millions)  2015 2014 

Staff advances  8.7 8.9 

Advances to implementing partners 0.9 0.8 

Other  4.4 5.4 

Total other current assets 14.0 15.1 

Note 11 – Investments 

72.  The Organization maintains five investment portfolios of identified financial 

instruments managed by external investment managers consisting principally of fixed 

income investments and unit funds. Investments include cash and cash equivalents which 

are excluded from the cash and cash equivalents section as they are part of a portfolio 

investment which are intended to be kept for the long term and reinvested.  

73.  Investments are placed in line with the approved investment policy in consultation 

with the ILO’s Investments Committee and their performance is evaluated on a fair value 

basis. 
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74.  The fair value and historic cost as at the reporting date is as follows: 

 2015  2014 

(US$ millions)  Fair value Cost  Fair value Cost 

Investments – Current      

ILO short term deposit  60.0 60.0    

ITC one year term deposit 7.5 7.5    

Subtotal investment – Current 67.5 67.5    
      

Investments – Non-current      

Cash within the portfolios (0.1) (0.1)  1.9 1.9 
      

Fixed income      

Bonds 73.0 73.0  70.3 67.3 

Floating rate notes 27.3 27.3  25.8 25.9 

Money market 21.0 21.0  22.0 22.0 

Total fixed income investments 121.3 121.3  118.1 115.2 
      

Unit funds 105.1 104.8  30.4 29.9 

Subtotal investment Non-current 226.3 226.0  150.4 147.0 

Total investment 293.8 293.5  150.4 147.0 

75.  The movement of the investments during the reporting period is as follows: 

(US$ millions) 2015 2014 

Fair value as at 1 January  150.4 120.5 

Interest and net gain (loss) on investments (0.9) (0.1) 

New investment during the period 147.1 30.0 

Disposal of investments during the period (2.8) – 

Fair value as at 31 December 293.8 150.4 

76.  Current investments include short-term deposits with maturity between 90 days 

and one year as at 31 December 2015. 

77.  In 2015, two new portfolios in Swiss francs and US dollars were created, investing 

in unit funds. They represent general funds of the ILO which are not expected to be 

required for immediate operational purposes. In 2014, the sum of US$30 million 

representing funds intended for future payments of terminal benefits of ILO officials was 

invested separately in unit funds.  
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Note 12 – Property and equipment 

78.  The movement of property and equipment by asset class during the reporting period 

is as follows: 

(US$ thousands) Land Buildings 
Leasehold  
improvements Equipment Total  

Net carrying amount as at 31 December 2013 331 364  167 226 8 031 4 676 511 297  
      

Additions – 12 278 3 265 1 692 17 235 

Disposals – – – – – 

Transfers to investment property (64 746) – – – (64 746) 

Depreciation – (1 733)  (547) (1 007) (3 287) 

Exchange adjustment – Cost – – (1 474) (258) (1 732) 

Exchange adjustment – Depreciation – – 322 38 360 

Net revaluation recognized in net assets 43 547 (15 261) – – 28 286 

Subtotal 2014 movement (21 199) (4 716) 1 566 465 (23 884) 
      

Closing balance as at 31 December 2014 310 165 162 510 9 597 5 141 487 413  
      

Gross carrying amount as at 31 December 2014 310 165 162 510 13 044 6 724 492 443  

Accumulated depreciation – – (3 447) (1 583) (5 030) 

Net carrying amount as at 31 December 2014 310 165  162 510  9 597  5 141  487 413  
      

Additions – 17 750 70 4 103 21 923 

Disposals – – (11) – (11) 

Depreciation – (1 798) (609) (1 344) (3 751) 

Exchange adjustment – Cost – – (1 313) (229) (1 542) 

Exchange adjustment – Depreciation – – 333 49 382 

Net revaluation recognized in net assets (1 214) (27 254) – – (28 468) 

Subtotal 2015 movement (1 214) (11 302) (1 530) 2 579 (11 467) 
      

Closing balance as at 31 December 2015 308 951 151 208 8 067 7 720 475 946 
      

Gross carrying amount as at 31 December 2015 308 951 151 208 11 790 10 598 482 547 

Accumulated depreciation – – (3 723) (2 878) (6 601) 

Net carrying amount as at 31 December 2015 308 951 151 208 8 067 7 720 475 946 

Land and buildings 

79.  The Organization owns its headquarters building in Geneva, Switzerland, and the 

land upon which it was built along with two adjoining parcels of land.  

80.  In addition, the Organization owns land and buildings in Abidjan, Côte d’Ivoire, 

Lima, Peru, and Santiago, Chile. In Buenos Aires, Argentina, and Brussels, Belgium, the 

Organization owns apartments located in buildings for which no separate land ownership 

exists. In Brasilia, Brazil, Dar es Salaam, United Republic of Tanzania, and Islamabad, 

Pakistan, it further owns buildings located on land to which the ILO has surface rights or 

leaseholds at a nominal cost (note 28).  
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81.  In order to more accurately reflect the value of its land and buildings, an independent 

appraiser reviewed and updated the fair value of all of its properties as at 31 December 

2015 based on international valuation standards as promulgated by the International 

Valuation Standards Committee, including assumptions relating to current market 

conditions. The change in fair value of the land and buildings in 2015 includes 

US$3.0 million revaluation losses due to currency rate fluctuation. The net difference 

between historical cost and land and buildings valued at fair value is recognized as a 

separate component of the net assets as shown in note 20.  

Leasehold improvements 

82.  The Organization has also constructed improvements on leasehold property in New 

Delhi, India, and the Piedmont Pavilion and renovations to other buildings at the ITC.  

Note 13 – Investment property 

83.  In March 2014, following the completion of rezoning formalities by the local 

authority, at its 320th Session, the Governing Body confirmed its decision to sell two plots 

of land in Geneva, one of them owned and the other one held as long-term leasehold by 

the ILO, to partially fund the building renovation project. Following the change in use, 

starting from April 2014, these two plots of land were considered as investment properties.  

84.  In 2015, the land owned by the ILO was sold to a non-related party for 

CHF26 million (US$27 million), resulting in a gain on sale of US$6.1 million. 

85.  The movement of investment property during the reporting period is as follows: 

(US$ thousands) 2015 2014 

Opening balance as at 1 January 57 570 – 

Transfer from land and buildings – 64 746 

Additions – – 

Disposals (27 027) – 

Gain on sale of investment property 6 090 – 

Gains (losses) from fair value adjustments  (8 231) (616) 

Fair value adjustment resulting from net exchange differences (148) (6 560) 

Closing balance as at 31 December 28 254 57 570 

Subsequent event after the reporting date 

86.  In March 2016 an agreement was reached with the State of Geneva to relinquish 

ILO’s rights under a 99 year leasehold on a plot of land located in Geneva Switzerland. 

Based on the agreement reached, the Office relinquished its leasehold and in return 

received freehold title to one half of the property. The entire freehold property received 

was sold concurrently to a non-related party for CHF28 million (US$28.3 million using 

the exchange rate as at the reporting date). The fair value of the leasehold land as at 

31 December 2015 was estimated based on the proceeds from the subsequent sale. The 

fair value adjustment in 2015 on the leasehold land resulted in a loss of US$8.2 million. 

The subsequent sale will not have a significant financial impact on the 2016 consolidated 

statement of financial performance. 
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Note 14 – Intangible assets 

87.  The movement of intangible assets by class during the reporting period is as follows: 

(US$ thousands) Software acquired 
externally 

Software internally 
developed Total 

Net carrying amount as at 31 December 2013 112 1 018 1 130 
    

Additions 340 854 1 194 

Disposals – – – 

Amortization (53) (179) (232) 

Exchange adjustment – Cost (15) – (15) 

Exchange adjustment – Amortization 4 – 4 

Subtotal 2014 movement 276 675 951 
    

Closing balance as at 31 December 2014 388 1 693 2 081 
    

Gross carrying amount as at 31 December 2014 453 1 925 2 378 

Accumulated amortization (65) (232) (297) 

Net carrying amount as at 31 December 2014 388 1 693 2 081 
    

Additions 462 367 829 

Disposals – – – 

Amortization (122) (418) (540) 

Exchange adjustment – Cost (17) (16) (33) 

Exchange adjustment – Amortization 4 – 4 

Subtotal 2015 movement 327 (67) 260 
    

Closing balance as at 31 December 2015 715 1 626 2 341 
    

Gross carrying amount as at 31 December 2015 898 2 276 3 174 

Accumulated amortization (183) (650) (833) 

Net carrying amount as at 31 December 2015 715 1 626 2 341 
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Note 15 – Deferred revenue 

88.  Deferred revenue as at the reporting date is as follows: 

(US$ millions) 2015 2014 

Deferred revenue – Current   

Assessed contributions received in advance 38.6 39.5 

Voluntary contributions receivable relating to signed agreements 219.0 229.6 

Due to donors (including ITC)  178.4 212.3 

Receivables relating to signed agreements on ITC training services 2.4 2.7 

SHIF contributions received in advance 0.6 0.6 

Other deferred revenue 0.3 0.3 

Subtotal current deferred revenue 439.3 485.0 
   

Deferred revenue – Non-current   

Voluntary contributions receivable relating to signed agreements 44.8 54.1 

Receivables relating to signed agreements on ITC training services 0.4 0.6 

Subtotal non-current deferred revenue 45.2 54.7 
   

Total deferred revenue 484.5 539.7 

89.  The deferred voluntary contribution revenue represents the amount receivable 

pending on the completion of the performance required by agreements between the 

Organization and the donors (note 6). 

Note 16 – Employee benefits  

90.  The employee benefits liabilities at the reporting date are as follows: 

(US$ millions) 2015 2014 

Current liabilities   

Education grant 3.0 3.5 

Accumulated leave  21.3 21.9 

Home leave 0.4 0.4 

Agreed termination 0.1 0.3 

Repatriation entitlements 3.5 4.3 

ASHI liability 22.1 20.9 

Subtotal current liabilities 50.4 51.3 
   

Non-current liabilities   

Accumulated leave  13.3 13.7 

Repatriation entitlements 45.4 53.4 

ASHI liability 1 137.1 1 067.3 

Subtotal non-current liabilities 1 195.8 1 134.4 
   

Total employee benefit liabilities 1 246.2 1 185.7 

91.  Employee benefits are established in accordance with the Staff Regulations of the 

ILO and the ITC, and the SHIF Regulations and Administrative Rules.  
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Post-employment benefits 

United Nations Joint Staff Pension Fund 

92.  The Pension Fund’s Regulations state that the Pension Board shall have an actuarial 

valuation made of the Fund at least once every three years by the Consulting Actuary. The 

practice of the Pension Board has been to carry out an actuarial valuation every two years 

using the Open Group Aggregate Method. The primary purpose of the actuarial valuation 

is to determine whether the current and estimated future assets of the Pension Fund will 

be sufficient to meet its liabilities.  

93.  The ILO’s financial obligation to the UNJSPF consists of its mandated contribution, 

at the rate established by the United Nations General Assembly (currently at 7.9 per cent 

for participants and 15.8 per cent for member organizations) together with any share of 

any actuarial deficiency payments under article 26 of the Regulations of the Pension Fund. 

Such deficiency payments are only payable if and when the United Nations General 

Assembly has invoked the provision of article 26, following determination that there is a 

requirement for deficiency payments based on an assessment of the actuarial sufficiency 

of the Pension Fund as of the valuation date. Each member organization shall contribute 

to this deficiency an amount proportionate to the total contributions which each paid 

during the three years preceding the valuation date.  

94.  The actuarial valuation performed as at 31 December 2013 revealed an actuarial 

deficit of 0.72 per cent (1.87 per cent in the 2011 valuation) of pensionable remuneration, 

implying that the theoretical contribution rate required to achieve balance as at 

31 December 2013 was 24.42 per cent of pensionable remuneration, compared to the 

actual contribution rate of 23.7 per cent. The next actuarial valuation will be conducted as 

at 31 December 2015. As at 31 December 2013, the funded ratio of actuarial assets to 

actuarial liabilities, assuming no future pension adjustments, was 127.5 per cent (130 per 

cent in the 2011 valuation). The funded ratio was 91.2 per cent (86.2 per cent in the 2011 

valuation) when the current system of pension adjustments was taken into account.  

95.  After assessing the actuarial sufficiency of the Fund, the Consulting Actuary 

concluded that there was no requirement, as at 31 December 2013, for deficiency 

payments under article 26 of the Regulations of the Fund as the actuarial value of assets 

exceeded the actuarial value of all accrued liabilities under the Fund. In addition, the 

market value of assets also exceeded the actuarial value of all accrued liabilities as at the 

valuation date. At the time of this report, the General Assembly had not invoked the 

provision of article 26.  

96.  During 2015, expenses related to the UNJSPF amounted to US$51.9 million 

(US$52 million in 2014). Expected expenses for 2016 total US$51.8 million. 

97.  The United Nations Board of Auditors carries out an annual audit of the UNJSPF 

and reports to the UNJSPF Pension Board on the audit every year. The UNJSPF publishes 

quarterly reports on its investments and these can be viewed by visiting the UNJSPF at 

www.unjspf.org. 

After-service health insurance plan (ASHI) 

98.  An actuarial valuation carried out in 2015 calculated the ILO’s estimated liability for 

after-service medical benefits at the reporting date as described in the following 

paragraphs. 
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99.  Each year, the ILO reviews and selects assumptions and methods that will be used 

by the actuaries in the valuation to determine the expense and contribution requirements 

for the ILO’s after-service medical care plans. For the 2015 valuation, the assumptions 

and methods used are as described below. 

Key financial assumptions 2015 (%)  2014 (%) 

Discount rate  ILO: 1.66 
ITC: 2.66 

ISSA: 1.01 

 ILO: 1.84 
ITC: 2.21 

ISSA: 1.36 

Rate of future compensation increases UNJSPF rate 
(3.5% + static salary scale) 

 UNJSPF rate 
(3.5% + static salary scale) 

Rate of pension increases  3.00  3.00 

Medical inflation  4.00 from 2015 decreasing 
by 0.20 per year to 3.00 

 4.20 from 2014 decreasing 
by 0.20 per year to 3.00 

100.  The discount rate is determined by reference to market yields at the reporting date 

on high-quality corporate bonds. Based on the plan duration, the discount rate has been 

determined for each major currency in which the SHIF incurs liabilities (CHF, £, US$, €). 

The final rate was then determined by averaging the different discount rates, weighted by 

the benefit payments in the different currencies. 

101.  Should the assumptions about medical cost trends described above change, this 

would impact the measurement of the ASHI liability as follows: 

Sensitivity information for health-care plans (US$ millions) 2015 2014 

1 per cent increase in health-care trend rate – Effect on service and interest costs 23.1 21.3 

1 per cent decrease in health-care trend rate – Effect on service and interest costs (17.1) (15.8) 

1 per cent increase in health-care trend rate – Effect on defined benefit obligation (DBO) 256.0 235.7 

1 per cent decrease in health-care trend rate – Effect on DBO (199.7) (184.1) 

102.  The following table shows the change in present value of the defined benefit 

obligation during the reporting period. 

(US$ millions) 2015 2014 

Defined benefit obligation, beginning of year  1 088.2 811.8 

Current service cost  36.9 21.9 

Interest cost  20.0 24.8 

Net benefits paid (22.1) (20.9) 

Actuarial (gain) loss due to experience 5.4 11.4 

Actuarial (gain) loss due to assumption changes 30.8 239.2 

Defined benefit obligation, end of year 1 159.2 1 088.2 
   

Consolidated statement of financial position asset (liability), beginning of year (1 088.2) (811.8) 

Total (charge) credit for interest cost and current service cost (56.9) (46.7) 

Net benefits paid 22.1 20.9 

Total (charge) credit recognized in consolidated statement of financial performance  (34.8) (25.8) 

Total (charge) credit recognized in net assets (36.2) (250.6) 

Consolidated statement of financial position liability, end of year (1 159.2) (1 088.2) 
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103.  The trend over the past five years of the defined benefit obligations and the 

experience adjustments is as follows:  

(US$ millions) 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011 

Defined benefit obligation 1 159.2 1 088.2 811.8 870.8 748.8 

Plan assets at fair value – – – – – 

Surplus (deficit) (34.8) (25.8) (31.9) (20.6) (16.0) 

Actuarial (gain) loss due to experience 5.4 11.4 1.3 4.8 (26.3) 

104.  Expenses related to interest cost and current services costs for 2015 have been 

recognized in the consolidated statement of financial performance as staff costs. 

Cumulative net actuarial losses of US$526.6 million (cumulative net actuarial loss of 

US$490.4 million as at 31 December 2014) have been recognized in net assets. Under 

IPSAS-25, the ASHI liability is considered unfunded and, therefore, no fair value of plan 

assets has been offset against the liability. However, an amount of US$61.6 million is 

available in a SHIF Guarantee Fund (US$58.4 million as at 31 December 2014) to cover 

future liabilities of SHIF. In addition, an amount of US$3.6 million has been reserved to 

partially fund the ASHI liability. The total contribution paid to the ASHI Liability Reserve 

in 2015 was US$1.2 million (US$1.2 million in 2014). 

105.  The ILO finances its ASHI liability on a pay-as-you-go basis. The Programme and 

Budget for 2014–15 includes a provision of US$29.8 million for this purpose. 

106.  Following the determination of ASHI liability in respect of the ISSA as a legal 

liability of the ILO, in 2014, the ISSA’s liability was recorded in the ILO financial 

statements retrospectively. The total ASHI liability recognized in respect of ISSA staff 

was US$22.4 million as at 31 December 2015 (US$18.3 million as at 31 December 2014). 

Repatriation entitlements 

107.  An actuarial valuation carried out in 2015 calculated the ILO’s estimated liability for 

repatriation entitlements at the reporting date as described in the following paragraphs.  

108.  Each year, the ILO reviews and selects assumptions and methods that will be used 

by the actuaries in the valuation to determine the expense and contribution requirements 

for the ILO’s repatriation entitlements. For the 2015 valuation, the assumptions and 

methods used are as described below. 

Key financial assumptions 2015 (%) 2014 (%) 

Discount rate Repatriation entitlement: 4.11 
End of service payment: 2.03 

Repatriation entitlement: 3.62 
End of service payment: 1.58 

Rate of future compensation increases UNJSPF rate  
(3.5% + static salary scale) 

UNJSPF rate  
(3.5% + static salary scale) 

Probability of benefit claim ILO repatriation grant: 76% 
ITC Repatriation grant: 100% 
ILO travel and removal: 77% 
ITC travel and removal: 90% 

ILO repatriation grant: 100% 
ITC Repatriation grant: 100% 
ILO travel and removal: 90% 
ITC travel and removal: 90% 

109.  The discount rates were determined for the currencies US dollar and euro by 

reference to the AA corporate bond yield curve in the respective currency as at 

31 December 2015. 
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110.  The following table shows the change in present value of the defined benefit 

obligation during the reporting period: 

(US$ millions) 2015 2014 

Defined benefit obligation, beginning of year 57.7 48.5 

Current service cost  2.2 1.4 

Past service costs – (2.8) 

Interest cost  1.7 2.1 

Net benefits paid (3.4) (4.5) 

Actuarial (gain) loss due to experience 3.6 (1.5) 

Actuarial (gain) loss due to assumption changes (12.9) 14.5 

Defined benefit obligation, end of year 48.9 57.7 
   

Consolidated statement of financial position asset (liability), beginning of year (57.7) (48.5) 

Total (charge) credit for interest cost and current service cost (3.9) (0.7) 

Net benefits paid 3.4 4.5 

Total (charge) credit recognized in consolidated statement of financial performance  (0.5) 3.8 

Total (charge) credit recognized in net assets 9.3 (13.0) 

Consolidated statement of financial position liability, end of year (48.9) (57.7) 

111.  The trend over the two past years of the defined benefit obligations and the 

experience adjustments is as follows:  

(US$ millions) 2015 2014 2013 

Defined benefit obligation 48.9 57.7 48.5 

Plan assets at fair value – – – 

Surplus (deficit) (0.5) (3.8) 1.4 

Actuarial (gain) loss due to experience 3.6 (1.5) 0.5 

112.  Expenses related to interest cost and current services costs for 2015 have been 

recognized in the consolidated statement of financial performance as staff costs. 

Cumulative net actuarial losses of US$0.8million (cumulative net actuarial loss of 

US$10.1 million as at 31 December 2014) have been recognized in net assets. Under 

IPSAS-25, the repatriation entitlement liability is considered unfunded and, therefore, no 

fair value of plan assets has been offset against the liability. However, an amount of 

US$38.8 million has been reserved by the ILO in the Terminal Benefits Fund 

(US$36.7 million as at 31 December 2014) to partially cover the repatriation grant. The 

total contribution paid to the Terminal Benefits Fund in 2015 was US$4.8 million 

(US$4.8 million in 2014).  

113.  Past service costs were recognized in 2014 following the revision of the ITC end-of-

service plan in March 2014 in compliance with the International Civil Service 

Commission (ICSC) recommendation.  

Note 17 – Borrowings 

114.  Borrowings consist of a loan in Swiss francs made to the ILO from the Foundation 

for Buildings for International Organisations (FIPOI) for the construction of the ILO’s 

headquarters building with an original interest rate based on market rates. The interest was 

subsequently waived by the Swiss Confederation in 1996. The loan is unsecured. 
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(US$ millions) 2015 2014 

Nominal value at beginning of period 41.3 50.1 

Repaid in current period (3.9) (3.8) 

Exchange rate effect – (5.0) 

Nominal value at end of period 37.4 41.3 
   

Fair value adjustment beginning of period (4.8) (6.3) 

Exchange rate effect – 0.6 

Amortization using effective interest rate 0.7 0.9 

Fair value adjustment end of period  (4.1) (4.8) 
   

Total borrowings 33.3 36.5 

115.  The loan is repayable in annual instalments and the final payment will be due in 2025. 

The annual payments in nominal value are as follows: 

(US$ millions) 2015 2014 

Payments due next year 3.7 3.8 

Payments due from second to fifth year (CHF3.7 million per year) 15.0 15.0 

Payments due after five years 18.7 22.5 

Nominal value at end of period 37.4 41.3 

Note 18 – Due to member States 

116.  The amount due to member States at the reporting date is calculated as follows: 

(US$) 2015  2014 

Undistributed surpluses of prior periods 137 965  138 524 

Undistributed net premia of prior periods 314 309  268 269 

Undistributed 50 per cent of net premia 205 675  149 203 

Subtotal 657 949  555 996 

    

Incentive Fund 351 815  321 170 

Total payable to member States 1 009 764  877 166 

    

■ Due to member States – Current  181 565  340 502 

■ Due to member States – Non-current 828 199  536 664 

117.  In accordance with article 11 of the ILO Financial Regulations, the net premium due 

to member States is determined on a biennial basis at the end of the second year of the 

biennium. The 2014 amount was included as a separate element of accumulated fund 

balance pending the biennial results. 

Calculation of net premium and Incentive Fund 

118.  The Financial Regulations provide for the distribution of elements of the net result 

of operations of the regular budget as follows: 

119.  Net premium – Article 11(5) and (7) provides for distribution to member States of 

one half of any net premium earned on the forward purchasing transactions between 

US dollars and Swiss francs to member States apportioned on the basis of the proportion 

of the total of each member State’s assessed contributions during the biennium in which 
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the net premium was earned and credited against assessed contributions payable in the 

next financial period. The remaining one half of the net premium is transferred to the 

Incentive Fund. The calculation of the various distributions of the net operational result in 

accordance with the Financial Regulations is done on a biennial basis. The balance due to 

member States for the 2014–15 biennium is as follows: 

Exchange Equalization Account (EEA) calculation (US$) 2014–15 2012–13 

Premium earned on the forward purchase of US dollars 6 220 073 2 312 872 

Exchange gains (losses) from revaluation from budgetary to 
UN operational rate of exchange 

  

Revenue 14 306 481 (81 236 113) 

Expense (3 715 625) 48 512 246 

Forward purchase of US dollars (2 712 890) 30 037 256 

Revaluation of assets, liabilities, reserves and fund balances at 
UN operational rate of exchange 

(13 712 835) (1 382 734) 

Revaluation of provision for contribution arrears (453 556) 1 980 117 

Revaluation of regular budget surplus 479 702 108 405 

Total EEA  411 350 332 049 

120.  Incentive Fund – Article 11(4)–(6) provides for an Incentive Fund financed by 60 per 

cent of the interest earned on temporarily surplus regular budget funds and one half of any 

net premium earned on the forward purchasing transactions. The Incentive Fund is 

distributed to member States that have paid their assessed contributions in full at the end 

of either the first or second year of the biennium financial period during which the net 

premium was earned.  

Composition of Incentive Fund (US$) 2015 2014 

Interest earned in current year   63 914 82 559 

Interest earned in prior year  82 226 89 408 

Total interest earned 146 140 171 967 
   

50 per cent of net premium  205 675 149 203 

Total available in Incentive Fund 351 815 321 170 

Note 19 – Other current liabilities 

121.  Other current liabilities at the reporting date are as follows: 

(US$ millions) 2015 2014 

Pass-through funds held as administrative agent – 0.7 

Provisions for contingencies 0.4 0.8 

Due to ITU 1.8 1.1 

Other 1.4 6.6 

Total other current liabilities 3.6 9.2 

122.  In some donor agreements, the ILO is the administrative agent responsible for 

passing through funds to implementing partners or other beneficiaries. A liability is 

established to reflect the funds received from the donor but not yet passed through to 

implementing partners or beneficiaries as at 31 December. 
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123.  The amount due to ITU represents ITU’s share of the SHIF guarantee fund balance 

following its withdrawal from the SHIF. In 2014 the relative amounts were presented in a 

separate line in the Statement I and accompanied with a separate note.   

124.  Provisions for contingencies are recognized for legal cases pending before the ILO 

Administrative Tribunal for which it is more likely than not that the ILO will be required 

to settle the obligation and the amount can be reliably measured. The movement of 

provisions for contingencies during the reporting period is as follows:  

(US$ millions) 2015 2014 

Balance as at 1 January 0.8 1.8 

Additional provisions raised during the period – 0.3 

Provisions used during the period (0.2) (0.6) 

Unused provisions reversed during the period (0.2) (0.7) 

Balance as at 31 December 0.4 0.8 

Note 20 – Reserves and accumulated balances 

125.  Net assets represent the value of the Organization’s assets less its outstanding 

liabilities at the reporting date. Net assets consist of the following elements: 

 Reserves: represent the balances of special funds established by the Governing Body, 

the ILC or the Financial Regulations and include: 

– Working Capital Fund to finance budgetary expenditure pending receipt of 

assessed contributions and, with Governing Body approval, provide advances 

to meet emergencies. 

– Income Adjustment Account to provide temporary funding when the Working 

Capital Fund proves insufficient to cover regular budget deficits. 

– Terminal Benefits Fund to finance payments of repatriation grant and end-of-

service benefits. The ILO makes a defined contribution to the Fund as a 

percentage of compensation paid to eligible employees during the financial 

period. 

– Fidelity Guarantee Fund to finance losses due to theft or misappropriation. 

– Extra-budgetary reserve to finance costs incurred in connection with 

development cooperation projects not reimbursed by donors. 

– ILO portion of the SHIF Guarantee Fund. 

– ASHI Liability Reserve established to partially fund the ASHI liability. 

– The ITC’s Working Capital Fund established in accordance with the Financial 

Regulations of the Centre. 

 Accumulated balances include: 

– Employee benefits: represent initial recognition of the employee liabilities and 

subsequent impact of changes in actuarial gains and losses. 

– Revaluation surplus of land and buildings: represents the accumulated 

difference between the historic cost of land and buildings and the fair value as 

determined by the independent valuation. In 2015, US$23.3 million have been 

transferred from revaluation surplus of land and buildings to the accumulated 

surplus following the sale of the land owned by the ILO (note 13). 
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– Value of outstanding derivatives: represents the portion of the unrealized gain 

or loss on the change in value of the forward purchase agreement that is used 

to meet the ILO’s regular budget requirements for US dollars, acquired through 

the sale of Swiss francs obtained from member States’ assessed contributions 

and accounted for as cash flow hedge using hedge accounting that is 

attributable to changes in the spot US dollar to Swiss franc exchange rate. 

– Translation difference: represents the foreign exchange difference resulting 

from the consolidation of ITC’s euro-based accounts. 

– Accumulated surpluses (deficits): represent the accumulated surpluses and 

deficits from the Organization’s operations after deducting funds returned to 

member States in accordance with the Financial Regulations. 

126.  Reserves and accumulated balances as at the reporting date are as follows:  

(US$ thousands) 2015 2014 

Reserves   

Working Capital Fund 19 118 35 461 

Income Adjustment Account 61 905 62 831 

Terminal Benefit Fund 38 819 36 723 

Fidelity Guarantee Fund 1 341 1 341 

Extra-budgetary Fund 25 25 

SHIF Guarantee Fund (ILO portion) 61 652 58 401 

ASHI Liability Reserve 3 625 2 419 

ITC's Working Capital Fund 2 882 2 810 

Total reserves 189 367 200 011 

   

Accumulated balances   

Employee benefits (1 091 868) (1 065 157) 

Revaluation surplus of land and buildings 399 314 451 079 

Value of outstanding derivatives 19 727 9 016 

Translation difference (3 125) (3 476) 

Accumulated surplus 278 050 291 412 

Total accumulated balances (397 902) (317 126) 

   

Total net assets (208 535) (117 115) 

Note 21 – Expenses 

127.  The ILO has the following main categories of expenses as presented in Statement II: 

 Staff costs: cover all entitlements for active officials of all grades as authorized by 

the Staff Regulations. Also include the current period interest cost and current 

service cost related to the ASHI liability. 

 Travel: includes expenses related to official travel for staff and delegates to 

meetings. 
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 Subcontracts: expenses related to externally provided services for the delivery of 

outputs. 

 General operating expenses: include all charges for the operation, maintenance and 

security of ILO premises (owned, leased and donated); communication costs 

including postage, telephone and internet services; freight expense; and insurance. 

 Supplies, materials and small equipment: covers the costs of consumables used in 

ILO day-to-day operations including office supplies, paper, books and other 

publications, computer and printer supplies, equipment and intangible assets which 

do not meet the capitalization policy, and vehicle fuel. 

 Depreciation and amortization: cover the costs of depreciation of buildings, 

equipment and leasehold improvements and amortization of the costs of intangible 

assets including externally acquired and internally developed software. 

 Seminars, workshops and other training: covers the costs of delivering training, 

including the costs of facilities, consultants, materials, subsistence payments and 

travel of officials and attendees to training-related events. 

 Staff development: expenses related to staff training and development including 

rental of space, participant travel, and presenter fees and travel costs. 

 Health benefits: all payments made by SHIF on behalf of active or former ILO 

officials or dependants. 

 Contributions and grants in aid: cover expenses under regular budget development 

cooperation activities and contributions made to jointly funded bodies. 

 Finance costs: include bank charges and custody fees paid in connection with the 

management of ILO bank accounts, disbursements and investments together with 

adjustments relating to discounting of non-current receivables and borrowings. 

 Other expenses: expenses that cannot be reported under the classifications above. 

Note 22 – Financial instruments 

128.  Financial instruments are categorized and measured as follows: 

 Classification  Measurement  

Cash and cash equivalents Cash and cash equivalents Fair value through surplus or 
deficit (level 1) 

Assessed contributions receivable Loans and receivables Amortized cost 

Voluntary contributions receivable Loans and receivables Amortized cost 

Derivative assets and liabilities excluding 
effective hedging instruments 

Held for trading Fair value through surplus or 
deficit (level 2) 

Derivative assets and liabilities arising 
from effective hedging instruments 

Held for trading Fair value through net assets 
for effective hedging(level 2) 

Other receivables Loans and receivables Amortized cost 

Investments Designated as at fair value through surplus or 
deficit upon initial recognition 

Fair value through surplus or 
deficit (level 1 or 2) 

Payables Financial liabilities  Amortized cost 

Borrowings Financial liabilities Amortized cost 
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129.  The fair values of cash, cash equivalents, investments-current and fixed-income 

investments (bonds) are determined using quoted prices in active market (level 1). The 

fair value of fixed income investments (floating rate notes and money market), unit funds 

and forward purchase agreements are provided by banks or investment portfolio managers 

based on price models using observable market prices (level 2).  

130.  The carrying amount of the ILO’s financial instruments at amortized cost is a 

reasonable approximation of their fair value  

Financial risk management 

131.  The ILO’s activities are exposed to a variety of financial risks: market risk, credit 

risk and liquidity risk. The ILO’s investment management programme focuses on these 

risks and seeks to minimize potential effects on financial performance. 

Market risk 

132.  Market risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument 

will fluctuate because of changes in market prices. Market risk comprises three types of 

risk: currency risk, interest rate risk and other price risk. 

Currency risk  

133.  Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial 

instrument will fluctuate due to changes in foreign exchange rates.  

134.  The ILO is exposed to foreign exchange risk on revenues and expenses denominated 

in foreign currencies, predominately Swiss francs along with minor exposure to other 

currencies, in particular the euro. The ILO’s primary objectives in managing currency risk 

are to preserve cash flows and reduce variations in performance from the negative impact 

of exchange rate fluctuation.  

135.  The ILO mitigates the currency fluctuation risk to its regular budget by naturally 

hedging through receipt of revenue in Swiss francs from assessed contributions in an 

amount sufficient to finance its current Swiss franc liabilities and entering into forward 

purchase agreements to finance its US dollar-based liabilities.  

136.  The ILO also enters into forward purchase agreements to hedge the non-Swiss franc 

investments held on behalf of its SHIF against currency gains or losses, since the SHIF’s 

liabilities are predominately Swiss franc-based.  

137.  The ILO receives voluntary contributions to finance development cooperation 

projects in currencies other than US dollars. These funds are converted to US dollars to 

meet cash flow requirements. No currency exposure exists as the related development 

cooperation project budgets are adjusted to reflect the US dollars equivalent amount of the 

funds received.  

138.  The table below shows the impact on surplus/deficit and net assets as of 

31 December 2015, if the major currencies to which the Organization was exposed, 

weakened or strengthened by 5 per cent against the US dollar: 
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 Impact on surplus/deficit  Impact on net assets 

(US$ millions) CHF 1  € 2  CHF 1  € 2 

5% depreciation of the foreign currency against US$:      

Financial assets and liabilities other than derivative instruments (18.3) (0.6)  – – 

Derivative instruments       – –  15.1 – 

Total impact (18.3) (0.6)  15.1 – 
      

5% appreciation of the foreign currency against US$:    

Financial assets and liabilities other than derivative instruments 20.3 0.7  – – 

Derivative instruments – –  (16.7) – 

Total impact 20.3 0.7  (16.7) – 
      

1 The UN operational rate of exchange was US$1 = CHF0.991 as at 31 December 2015. 
2 The UN operational rate of exchange was US$1 = €0.914 as at 31 December 2015. 

139.  The assets and liabilities held in Swiss francs and euro are generally matched to the 

underlying fund currency. Therefore, while there may be an impact in US dollar terms, the 

substantive effect in the underlying currency would be immaterial.  

140.  The assets and liabilities held in other currencies are minor. The movements in 

exchange rates against the US dollar of these currencies would not have a material impact 

on the consolidated statement of financial position or consolidated statement of financial 

performance. 

Interest rate risk 

141.  Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial 

instrument will fluctuate due to changes in market interest rates.  

142.  The ILO is exposed to interest rate risk through its interest-bearing financial assets 

on fixed-income instruments. The ILO believes that it is not subject to significant interest 

rate risk. The ILO mitigates its interest rate risk by adjusting the maturities of investments 

in accordance with expected changes in global economic environment.  

Credit risk  

143.  Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an 

obligation and cause the other party to incur a financial loss.  

144.  The ILO is exposed to credit risk through its cash and cash equivalents, investments, 

accounts receivable and derivative assets. The maximum exposure to credit risk is the 

carrying value of these assets.  

145.  The ILO’s investment policies limit the amount of credit exposure to any one 

counter-party and include conservative minimum credit quality requirements of 

investment grade.  

146.  Cash deposits and investments are widely spread in order to avoid an over- 

concentration of funds with few institutions. The total percentage of ILO cash and 

investments that may be placed with a single institution or investments is determined 

according to its long-term credit rating. Funds are generally deposited or invested only 

with institutions maintaining a long-term credit rating of A or higher, except where local 

banking conditions require the use of banks with a lower international rating but a good 

record of performance locally. 
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147.  As at the reporting date, the rating of banks in which cash and short-term deposits 

are held and the rating of the investments are as follows: 

Credit rating 1 Cash and cash equivalents  Investments 

 
Carrying amount 
(US$ millions) % 

 Carrying amount 
(US$ millions) % 

AAA – –  36.3 12.4 

AA 1.7 0.5  26.9 9.1 

A 371.3 96.2  114.5 39.0 

BBB 6.9 1.8  11.0 3.7 

<BBB 3.3 0.8  – – 

Not rated 2 2.8 0.7  105.1 35.8 

Total 386.0 100  293.8 100 
      

1 The rating is based on long-term credit ratings by Fitch; where unavailable equivalent ratings by Standard and Poor’s and Moody’s 
were utilized. The A rating category includes A+ and A–, the AA rating category includes AA+ and AA–. 
2 The ILO implements projects worldwide. A small part of the bank accounts operating outside of Geneva are held with banks not rated 
by reference to external credit ratings.  

148.  The ILO is not exposed to material credit risk related to account receivables as 

contributions are due primarily from large regulatory or governmental bodies.  

Liquidity risk  

149.  Liquidity risk is the risk that the ILO will encounter difficulties in meeting its 

financial obligations associated with financial liabilities.  

150.  The ILO manages liquidity risk by continuously monitoring actual and estimated 

cash flows. The ILO’s total current assets of US$833.0 million are sufficient to settle its 

current financial liabilities of US$544.9 million. On an ongoing basis, it is anticipated that 

the ILO will continue to have sufficient liquidity to meet its financial obligations. 

Capital management 

151.  The ILO defines the capital that it manages as the aggregate of its net assets which 

is comprised of accumulated balances and reserves. The ILO’s objectives in managing 

capital are to safeguard its ability to continue as a going concern to fund its asset base and 

to fulfil its mission and objectives as established by its member States and donors. The 

ILO’s overall strategy with respect to capital management includes the balancing of its 

operating and capital activities with its funding on a biennial basis along with the hedging 

of its expense requirements in US dollars against its Swiss franc-based revenue from 

member States’ assessments. 

152.  The ILO manages its capital structure in light of global economic conditions, the risk 

characteristics of the underlying assets and working capital requirements. The ILO 

manages its capital by reviewing on a regular basis the actual results against the budgets 

approved by member States.  

Note 23 – Operating leases 

153.  The ILO enters into operating lease arrangements for the use of field and regional 

office premises and for the use of photocopying and printing equipment. Some of these 

leases contain renewal and escalation clauses based generally on local inflationary indices.  
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154.  The total amount paid by the ILO to other UN agencies under cost-sharing 

agreements based on the reimbursement of actual cost incurred was US$1.8million in 2015 

(US$1.8 million in 2014). The total amount of lease and sublease expense recognized in 

2015 was US$10.5 million (US$10.2 million in 2014). 

155.  Future minimum lease rental payments for non-cancellable leases for the following 

periods are: 

(US$ millions) 2015 2014 

Within one year 0.6 0.8 

Later than one year and not later than five years 2.1 2.4 

Later than five years 1.6 1.9 

Total operating lease commitments 4.3 5.1 

156.  The total amount of rent earned under contingent lease agreements in 2015 was 

US$0.7 million (US$0.5 million in 2014), comprising an ITC cost-sharing agreement with 

other UN agencies with the rent based on reimbursement of actual cost incurred and a 

profit-sharing agreement with the catering operator in the Geneva premises based on a 

percentage of revenue.  

Note 24 – Statement of comparison of budget 
and actual amounts 

157.  The ILO does not publish a consolidated budget. Consequently, separate statements 

of comparison of budget and actual amounts are prepared for each of the published budgets: 

the regular budget adopted by the ILC; the budget of CINTERFOR adopted by the ILO 

Governing Body; and the budget of the ITC adopted by the ITC Board of Directors. The 

approved budgets are governed by the Financial Regulations and are prepared on a 

different basis than that of the consolidated financial statements. 

158.  IPSAS requires that where the consolidated financial statements and the budget are 

not prepared on a comparable basis, a reconciliation be presented identifying separately 

any basis, timing and entity differences. 

Basis difference 

159.  The consolidated statement of financial position, consolidated statement of financial 

performance, consolidated statement of changes in net assets and consolidated statement 

of cash flow are prepared on a full accrual basis while the approved budgets are prepared 

on a modified accrual basis. In addition, the ILO regular budget is prepared using a fixed 

budget rate of exchange. In the preparation of the consolidated financial statements all 

foreign currency transactions are converted to US dollars using the UN operational rate 

on the date of each transaction. 

Timing difference 

160.  Timing differences occur as the ILO regular budget and CINTERFOR’s budget are 

prepared and approved on a biennial basis while the financial statements are prepared on 

an annual basis. 

Entity difference 

161.  Entity differences occur since the published approved budgets include only certain 

of the funds managed by the Organization, while the consolidated financial statements 

provide information of all the funds and entities of the ILO.  



Consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2015 

ILC.105/FIN  63 

162.  The following table provides a reconciliation of the result in accordance with the 

Financial Regulations and with IPSAS: 

(US$ thousands) 
Regular 
budget  

CINTERFOR ITC Subsidiary 
funds 

Total 

Net result per budgetary basis (Statement V) (16 200) 326 1 534  (14 340) 

Less: Timing difference (36 266) (245) –  (36 511) 

Adjusted net result (52 466) 81 1 534  (50 851) 
      

Reconciling items from budgetary basis to 
IPSAS basis:      

Treatment of exchange differences 2 383 – 240 – 2 623 

Provision for assessed contributions receivable 30 150 – – – 30 150 

Amortization of receivable from member States with 
financial arrangement 195 – – – 195 

Recognition of inventory (1 106) – – – (1 106) 

Recognition of property and equipment 2 768 42 (303) – 2 507 

Recognition of intangible assets 469 – – – 469 

Accrual of employee benefits (1 125) 7 – – (1 118) 

Provision for contingencies 356 – – – 356 

Unrealized loss from forward purchase agreements 2 961 – – – 2 961 

Use of prior year surplus (ITC) – – (826) – (826) 

Entity difference – – (533) – (533) 

Subsidiary funds – – – (29 074) (29 074) 

Total differences 37 051 49 (1 422) (29 074) 6 604 
      

Net result per IPSAS basis (15 415) 130 112 (29 074) (44 247) 

163.  The following table provides a reconciliation between Statement V and Statement IV 

for the year ended 31 December 2015: 

(US$ thousands) Operating Investing Financing Total 

Regular budget net result (Statement V-A) (16 200) – – (16 200) 

CINTERFOR net result (Statement V-B) 326 – – 326 

ITC net result (Statement V-C) 1 534 – – 1 534 

Total surplus on budgetary basis (14 340) – – (14 340) 
     

Total net result on basis comparable to the adopted budgets:     

Timing difference (36 511) – – (36 511) 

Basis difference 37 136 2 976 (3 901) 36 211 

Entity difference (44 061) (143 097) – (187 158) 

Net cash flows (57 776) (140 121) (3 901) (201 798) 
     

Effect of exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents    (3 879) 

Actual amount in the consolidated statement of cash flow (Statement IV)   (205 677) 
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Note 25 – Related party disclosures 

164.  Key management personnel during the period were the Director-General, Deputy 

Directors-General, Assistant Director-General, Regional Directors, the Treasurer and 

Financial Comptroller and the Legal Adviser. The Governing Body consists of 

representatives of member States and constituents elected by the ILC who serve without 

compensation from the ILO and are not considered key management personnel. 

165.  The aggregate remuneration paid to key management personnel includes salaries and 

all allowances established in accordance with the ILO Staff Regulations and approved by 

the Governing Body. Key management personnel are members of the UNJSPF to which 

the personnel and the ILO contribute and are also eligible for participation in the SHIF 

including the after-service medical insurance if they meet the eligibility requirements in 

the SHIF Regulations and Administrative Rules. 

Category 2015 

 

2014 

 Individuals 1 Remuneration (US$) Individuals 1 Remuneration (US$) 

Key management 11.5 4 288 784  11.6 4 111 516 

1 Full-time equivalent. 

166.  There were no loans or advances granted to key management personnel and their 

close family members which were not available to other categories of staff in accordance 

with the ILO Staff Regulations. 

167.  There were related party transactions involving key management personnel in 2015 

totalling US$137,475 (US$139,896 in 2014). All such transactions are under terms and 

conditions that would apply in the normal course of operations. 

Note 26 – Revenue from non-exchange transactions 

168.  The primary source of revenue to the ILO is from non-exchange transactions 

including the assessed contributions paid by its member States and voluntary contributions 

made by donors to its development cooperation projects and RBSA. 

(US$ millions) 2015 2014 

Assessed contributions from member States 386.7 430.9 

Voluntary contributions to development cooperation projects, RBSA, and gifts and grants 260.6 281.1 

ITC training services 14.1 17.1 

Total revenue from non-exchange transactions 661.4 729.1 
   

Receivables from assessed contributions (note 5) 99.1 68.6 

Receivables from voluntary contributions (note 6) 267.2 289.6 

Total receivables from non-exchange transactions 366.3 358.2 
   

Liabilities recognized for conditional voluntary contributions 263.8 283.7 

Liabilities recognized for ITC training services 2.8 3.3 

Advance receipts from assessed contributions 38.6 39.5 
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Note 27 – Contingent assets and liabilities and commitments 

Contingent assets 

169.  As at the reporting date, the ILO has the following contingent assets: 

(US$ millions) 2015 

Member State contribution assessed for the 2016-17 biennium 1 797.4 

Revenue from voluntary ITC training services covering future periods 8.6 

Contributions to the RBSA covering future periods 5.5 

Total contingent assets 811.5 
  

1 CHF757.5 million at the budget rate of exchange of US$1 = CHF0.95 adopted by the ILC for the 2016–17 biennium. 

Contingent liabilities  

170.  In 2015, the ILO has no contingent liabilities for claims or legal actions related to 

the ILO Administrative Tribunal (nil as at 31 December 2014). 

Commitments  

171.  Outstanding contracts for renovation of the headquarters building totalled 

US$155.1 million as at 31 December 2015 (US$13.5 million as at 31 December 2014). 

172.  Future minimum lease rental payments for non-cancellable leases are presented in 

note 23.  

Note 28 – Contributions in-kind  

173.  The ILO receives contributions in-kind from its member States of the right to use 

land, office space and other facilities in its operations. The major contributions over 

extended periods include:  

In-kind contribution Location of the ILO’s controlled 
entity/external offices 

Provided by 

Right to use campus and 
facilities 

ITC, Turin City of Turin, Italy 

   

Right to use land Islamabad Government of Pakistan 

Brasilia Government of Brazil 

Dar es Salaam Government of the United Republic of Tanzania 
   

Right to use office space 
and other facilities 

Budapest Government of Hungary 

Beirut Government of Lebanon 

Yaoundé Government of Cameroon 

Kuwait City Government of Kuwait 

Ankara Government of Turkey 

Abuja Government of Nigeria 

Lisbon Government of Portugal 

Madrid Government of Spain 

Rome Government of Italy 

Colombo Government of Sri Lanka 

CINTERFOR, Montevideo Government of Uruguay 
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Note 29 – Segment reporting 

174.  Segment reporting is presented in a format that represents the categories in which 

the ILO regular budget is appropriated by the ILC. The segments include: 

 Policy-making organs – the ILC, Governing Body, major Regional Meetings, Legal 

Services and the Official Meetings, Documentation and Relations Department. 

 Strategic objectives – the development programmes, regional and country offices, 

cross-cutting programmes and ITC and CINTERFOR and support services such as 

Information Technology and internal services. 

 Management Services – Director-General’s Office, Human Resources Development, 

Financial Management, Strategic Programming and Management and Oversight. 

 Other – such as retiree health-care costs, contributions to UN system entities and 

extraordinary items. 

 Unallocated (not distributed) – Compensation Fund, Terminal Benefits Fund, SHIF, 

change in provision for ASHI, investment revenue and expense, depreciation of 

property and equipment, amortization of intangible assets and the ILO contribution 

to the Administrative Tribunal. 

 Eliminations – inter-segment transfers are eliminated including contributions made 

by each segment to the ILO, SHIF in accordance with the regulations of the Fund; 

ASHI charge for staff of development cooperation projects; contributions to the 

Terminal Benefits Fund (at 3.5 per cent of basis salary for the regular budget 

expatriate staff. 6.0 per cent for expatriate staff of the ITC and extra-budgetary-

funded activities, and 7.5 per cent for ITC General Service staff); and contributions 

to the Compensation Fund covering premiums for accident insurance and short-term 

staff insurance. 

175.  The assets and liabilities of the ILO are owned by, and are the responsibility of, the 

entire Organization and are not assets and liabilities of the individual segments. The total 

assets and liabilities are therefore presented in the consolidated segment. 
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International Labour Organization 

Consolidated statement of financial performance by segment for the year ended 31 December 2015 (US$ millions) 

 

 
Policy-making 
organs 

 
Strategic 
objectives 

 
Management 
services 

 
Other 

 
Unallocated  Eliminations  Consolidated 

 2015 2014  2015 2014  2015 2014  2015 2014  2015 2014  2015 2014  2015 2014 

Assessed contributions from member States 39.5 44.0  293.1 326.6  29.7 33.1  24.4 27.2  – –  – –  386.7 430.9 

Voluntary contributions 0.1 0.2  259.1 278.3  1.4 2.6  – –  – –  – –  260.6 281.1 

ITC training services – –  26.3 26.1  – –  – –  – –  (12.2) (9.0)  14.1 17.1 

Programme support income 0.3 0.6  21.6 16.6  1.6 6.9  – –  – –  (23.5) (24.1)  – – 

Staff/retiree employee benefit contributions – –  – –  – –  – –  20.3 21.3  – –  20.3 21.3 

Sales and royalties 1.1 1.5  6.4 5.1  0.7 1.1  – –  3.0 3.0  (1.2) (1.2)  10.0 9.5 

Gain on sale of investment property – –  – –  – –  – –  6.1 –  – –  6.1 – 

Investment income – –  – –  – –  – –  1.7 7.6  – –  1.7 7.6 

Contribution inter-segment – –  5.3 6.5  0.4 –  – 4.1  52.3 46.8  (58.0) (57.4)  – – 

Exchange gain (loss) and revaluation net – –  – –  – –  – –  12.5 –  – –  12.5 – 

Other income – –  1.1 2.1  – –  – –  0.4 2.2  0.1 (0.2)  1.6 4.1 

Total revenue 41.0 46.3  612.9 661.3  33.8 43.7  24.4 31.3  96.3 80.9  (94.8) (91.9)  713.6 771.6 
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Policy–making 
organs 

 
Strategic 
objectives 

 
Management 
services 

 
Other 

 
Unallocated 

 
Eliminations 

 
Consolidated 

 2015 2014  2015 2014  2015 2014  2015 2014  2015 2014  2015 2014  2015 2014 

Staff costs 32.2 35.1  328.3 335.4  32.3 33.8  2.6 3.2  37.1 22.2  (18.0) (18.5)  414.5 411.2 

Travel 1.3 1.4  27.6 26.1  1.1 0.9  0.6 –  0.7 0.8  (0.1) (0.2)  31.2 29.0 

Subcontracts 1.3 1.3  123.1 103.1  4.7 1.6  1.4 1.1  (1.0) (0.6)  (1.8) (1.5)  127.7 105.0 

General operating expenses 2.0 2.4  42.4 40.6  0.5 0.5  0.4 –  0.5 0.4  (1.4) (0.9)  44.4 43.0 

Supplies materials and small equipment 0.3 0.1  12.8 9.7  0.1 0.1  0.1 –  (0.1) 0.2  – –  13.2 10.1 

Depreciation and amortization – –  – –  – –  – –  4.3 3.5  – –  4.3 3.5 

Seminars workshops and other training – –  58.1 49.1  0.1 0.4  – –  – –  (8.4) (6.5)  49.8 43.0 

Staff development 0.7 0.1  4.9 2.4  0.5 2.0  – –  – –  (0.9) (0.4)  5.2 4.1 

Health benefits – –  – –  – –  – –  41.5 40.9  – –  41.5 40.9 

Contributions and grants in aid 0.1 –  16.3 11.7  0.5 0.1  33.4 37.4  0.2 0.4  (40.3) (39.3)  10.2 10.3 

Programme support cost – –  23.8 24.4  0.1 0.1  – –  0.1 0.1  (24.0) (24.6)  – – 

Exchange loss (gain) and revaluation, net – –  – –  – –  – –  – 55.7  – –  – 55.7 

Change in fair value of investment property – –  – –  – –  – –  8.4 7.2  – –  8.4 7.2 

Finance costs – –  – –  – –  – –  2.3 2.9  – –  2.3 2.9 

Other expenses – –  0.7  –  – –  0.8 –  3.6 2.8  – –  5.1 2.8 

Total expenses 37.9 40.4  638.0 602.5  39.9 39.5  39.3 41.7  97.6 136.5  (94.9) (91.9)  757.8 768.7 

                     

Net result 3.1 5.9  (25.1) 58.8  (6.1) 4.2  (14.9) (10.4)  (1.3) (55.6)  0.1 –   (44.2) 2.9 
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Note 30 – Assessed contributions – Summary 

Assessed contributions of member States and amounts due by States for prior periods of membership in the ILO 
Summary for the year ended 31 December 2015 (in CHF) 

 Details   Balance due 
as at 1.1.2014 1 

Assessed 
contributions 

2014–15 

Total 
amounts due 

  Amount received or credited 2   Balance due 
as at 31.12.15 

      Total 
income 

  

    2014 2015   
                      

A.  Assessed contributions for the financial  
 period 2014–15:  

                 

 2014 – Assessed with the budget      380 598 500 380 598 500   334 031 812 31 650 789 365 682 601   14 915 899 

 2015 – Assessed with the budget      380 598 500 380 598 500     310 888 561 310 888 561   69 709 939 

 Total assessed contributions for the financial 
 period 2014–15 

   
761 197 000 

 
761 197 000 

   
334 031 812 

 
342 539 350 

 
676 571 162 

   
84 625 838 

B. Assessed contributions for previous financial 
 periods due from member States 

   
94 428 880 

   
94 428 880 

   
65 516 019 

 
8 695 170 

 
74 211 189 

   
20 217 691 

C. Amounts due by States for prior periods of 
 membership in the ILO 

   
6 615 689 

   
6 615 689 

   
– 

 
– 

 
 – 

   
6 615 689 

 Total assessed contributions and other 
 amounts due for previous financial periods 

   
101 044 569 

   
101 044 569 

   
65 516 019 

 
8 695 170 

 
74 211 189 

   
26 833 380 

Total 2014–15   101 044 569 761 197 000 862 241 569   399 547 831 351 234 520 750 782 351   111 459 218 

Total 2012–13   132 434 904 723 781 154 856 216 058   415 525 580 339 645 909 755 171 489   101 044 569 

                      

Balance due in US dollars at the United Nations rate of exchange for 31 December 2015 (0.991 Swiss francs to the dollar)         112 471 461 

Less: Prepayments of financial arrangements                   (884 230) 

Assessed contributions receivable in US$                   111 587 231 

1 Excludes assessed contributions for 2014                     

2 Includes credits to member States in respect of:   2014 2015             

The incentive scheme for 2012 and 2013 respectively  151 754 235 510             

Cash surpluses for previous financial periods  52 156 –             

50 per cent of the net premium for previous financial periods 1 612 729 100 565             

Total credits     1 816 639 336 075             
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Note 31 – Assessed contributions – Detailed information 

Assessed contributions of member States and amounts due by States for prior periods of membership in the ILO 
Details for the year ended 31 December 2015 (in CHF) 

 
 

State Calendar years Total due as

of assessment at 31.12.2015

Amounts received Balance due Balance due Balance due

% Amount in 2014 in 2015 % Amount or credited in 2015 as at 31.12.2015 as at  01.01.2014 in 2014 in 2015 as at 31.12.2015

Afghanistan 0.005 19 030 - - 0.005 19 030 - 38 060 14 475 14 475 - - 2014-15 38 060

Albania 0.010 38 060 - 38 060 0.010 38 060 38 060 - 59 810 40 000 19 810 - -

Algeria 0.137 521 420 521 420 - 0.137 521 420 521 420 - - - - - -

Angola 0.010 38 060 36 898 - 0.010 38 060 14 39 208 18 190 18 190 - - 2014-15 39 208

Antigua and Barbuda 2 0.002 7 612 1 254 - 0.002 7 612 - 13 970 112 741 - - 112 741 2000-15 126 711

Argentina 0.432 1 644 185 1 176 252 467 933 0.432 1 644 185 92 000 1 552 185 1 477 739 1 477 739 - - 2015 1 552 185

Armenia 1 0.007 26 642 26 642 - 0.007 26 642 26 642 - 1 359 666 96 000 96 000 1 167 666 1994-2004 1 167 666

Australia 2.075 7 897 419 7 897 419 - 2.075 7 897 419 7 897 419 - - - - - -

Austria 0.798 3 037 176 3 037 176 - 0.798 3 037 176 3 037 176 - - - - - -

Azerbaijan 1 0.040 152 239 152 239 - 0.040 152 239 152 239 - 3 008 308 176 959 176 959 2 654 390 1994-2005 2 654 390

Bahamas 0.017 64 702 64 702 - 0.017 64 702 64 702 - - - - - -

Bahrain 0.039 148 433 148 433 - 0.039 148 433 148 433 - - - - - -

Bangladesh 0.010 38 060 38 060 - 0.010 38 060 38 030 30 - - - - 2015 30

Barbados 0.008 30 448 30 448 - 0.008 30 448 30 448 - - - - - -

Belarus 1 0.056 213 135 213 135 - 0.056 213 135 213 135 - 630 987 157 746 157 746 315 495 1997 315 495

Belgium 0.999 3 802 179 3 802 179 - 0.999 3 802 179 3 802 179 - - - - - -

Belize 0.001 3 806 60 3 746 0.001 3 806 3 806 - - - - - -

Benin 0.003 11 418 - - 0.003 11 418 - 22 836 22 310 20 131 - 2 179 2013-15 25 015

Bolivia, Plurinational State of 0.009 34 254 34 254 - 0.009 34 254 19 34 235 - - - - 2015 34 235

Bosnia and Herzegovina 0.017 64 702 64 702 - 0.017 64 702 64 702 - - - - - -

Botswana 0.017 64 702 64 702 - 0.017 64 702 64 702 - - - - - -

Brazil 2.936 11 174 372 11 338 - 2.936 11 174 372 - 22 337 406 11 598 631 5 833 512 5 765 119 - 2014-15 22 337 406

Brunei Darussalam 0.026 98 956 98 956 - 0.026 98 956 98 956 - - - - - -

Bulgaria 0.047 178 881 178 871 10 0.047 178 881 178 881 - - - - - -

Burkina Faso 0.003 11 418 2 556 - 0.003 11 418 16 20 264 - - - - 2014-15 20 264

Burundi 2 0.001 3 806 - - 0.001 3 806 - 7 612 13 092 - 3 014 10 078 2011-15 17 690

Cabo Verde 0.001 3 806 404 3 402 0.001 3 806 1 902 1 904 3 619 - 3 619 - 2015 1 904

Cambodia 0.004 15 224 15 224 - 0.004 15 224 15 224 - 27 056 27 056 - - -

Cameroon 0.012 45 672 45 672 - 0.012 45 672 45 672 - - - - - -

Canada 2.986 11 364 671 11 364 671 - 2.986 11 364 671 11 364 671 - - - - - -

Central African Republic 1 0.001 3 806 3 806 - 0.001 3 806 3 593 213 81 920 8 192 8 192 65 536 1997-2000+2004-

07+2015

65 749

Chad 0.002 7 612 13 7 599 0.002 7 612 7 612 - 21 976 19 101 2 875 - -

Chile 0.334 1 271 199 1 271 199 - 0.334 1 271 199 1 271 199 - 3 697 3 697 - - -

China 5.151 19 604 629 19 604 629 - 5.151 19 604 629 19 604 629 - - - - - -

Colombia 0.259 985 750 526 798 311 170 0.259 985 750 397 1 133 135 - - - - 2014-15 1 133 135

Comoros 2 0.001 3 806 551 - 0.001 3 806 - 7 061 452 997 - - 452 997 1985-2015 460 058

Congo 0.005 19 030 19 030 - 0.005 19 030 19 030 - 13 501 13 501 - - -

Amounts due for previous financial periods

Assessed contributions

2014–15 assessed contributions

Amounts received or creditied

2014 2015

Amounts received or credited Assessed contributions
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State Calendar years Total due as

of assessment at 31.12.2015

Amounts received Balance due Balance due Balance due

% Amount in 2014 in 2015 % Amount or credited in 2015 as at 31.12.2015 as at  01.01.2014 in 2014 in 2015 as at 31.12.2015

Costa Rica 0.038 144 627 144 627 - 0.038 144 627 144 627 - 123 549 123 549 - - -

Côte d'Ivoire 0.011 41 866 41 866 - 0.011 41 866 37 740 4 126 72 776 72 776 - - 2015 4 126

Croatia 0.126 479 554 479 554 - 0.126 479 554 479 554 - - - - - -

Cuba 0.069 262 613 175 963 86 650 0.069 262 613 262 613 - 135 238 135 238 - - -

Cyprus 0.047 178 881 178 881 - 0.047 178 881 178 881 - - - - - -

Czech Republic 0.386 1 469 110 1 469 110 - 0.386 1 469 110 1 469 110 - - - - - -

Democratic Republic of the Congo 0.003 11 418 39 - 0.003 11 418 - 22 797 23 939 23 939 - - 2014-15 22 797

Denmark 0.675 2 569 040 2 569 040 - 0.675 2 569 040 2 569 040 - - - - - -

Djibouti 2 0.001 3 806 - - 0.001 3 806 - 7 612 102 019 3 873 - 98 146 1996+1998-2015 105 758

Dominica 2 0.001 3 806 - - 0.001 3 806 - 7 612 29 883 - - 29 883 2006-2015 37 495

Dominican Republic 0.045 171 269 310 170 959 0.045 171 269 171 269 - 406 028 280 235 125 793 - -

Ecuador 0.044 167 463 1 421 166 042 0.044 167 463 167 463 - 261 283 - 261 283 - -

Egypt 0.134 510 002 510 002 - 0.134 510 002 510 002 - - - - - -

El Salvador 0.016 60 896 - - 0.016 60 896 - 121 792 145 610 17 697 114 995 12 918 2013-15 134 710

Equatorial Guinea 2 0.010 38 060 233 - 0.010 38 060 - 75 887 57 900 - - 57 900 2012-15 133 787

Eritrea 0.001 3 806 3 806 - 0.001 3 806 3 806 - - - - - -

Estonia 0.040 152 239 152 239 - 0.040 152 239 152 239 - - - - - -

Ethiopia 0.010 38 060 38 060 - 0.010 38 060 45 38 015 - - - - 2015 38 015

Fiji 0.003 11 418 11 418 - 0.003 11 418 11 418 - - - - - -

Finland 0.519 1 975 306 1 975 306 - 0.519 1 975 306 1 975 306 - - - - - -

France 5.596 21 298 292 21 298 292 - 5.596 21 298 292 21 298 292 - - - - - -

Gabon 0.020 76 120 - 16 452 0.020 76 120 - 135 788 50 727 - 50 727 - 2014-15 135 788

Gambia 2 0.001 3 806 - - 0.001 3 806 - 7 612 52 579 - - 52 579 1999-2015 60 191

Georgia 1 0.007 26 642 26 642 - 0.007 26 642 15 26 627 2 350 005 307 190 164 527 1 878 288 1995-2004+2015 1 904 915

Germany 7.145 27 193 763 27 193 763 - 7.145 27 193 763 27 193 763 - - - - - -

Ghana 0.014 53 284 - 53 284 0.014 53 284 42 206 11 078 42 769 - 42 769 - 2015 11 078

Greece 0.638 2 428 218 2 397 510 30 708 0.638 2 428 218 1 766 967 661 251 1 292 516 1 292 516 - - 2015 661 251

Grenada 2 0.001 3 806 - - 0.001 3 806 - 7 612 14 864 - - 14 864 2010-15 22 476

Guatemala 0.027 102 762 102 762 - 0.027 102 762 102 762 - - - - - -

Guinea 0.001 3 806 70 3 736 0.001 3 806 - 3 806 295 - 295 - 2015 3 806

Guinea-Bissau 2 0.001 3 806 - - 0.001 3 806 - 7 612 264 203 - - 264 203 1992-2001+2003-15 271 815

Guyana 0.001 3 806 3 806 - 0.001 3 806 3 806 - - - - - -

Haiti 0.003 11 418 124 - 0.003 11 418 17 22 695 - - - - 2014-15 22 695

Honduras 0.008 30 448 29 296 1 152 0.008 30 448 25 201 5 247 21 21 - - 2015 5 247

Hungary 0.266 1 012 392 1 012 392 - 0.266 1 012 392 1 012 392 - - - - - -

Iceland 0.027 102 762 102 762 - 0.027 102 762 102 762 - - - - - -

India 0.666 2 534 786 2 534 786 - 0.666 2 534 786 2 534 786 - - - - - -

Indonesia 0.346 1 316 871 1 316 871 - 0.346 1 316 871 1 316 871 - - - - - -

Iran, Islamic Republic of 0.356 1 354 931 2 327 1 132 594 0.356 1 354 931 - 1 574 941 999 206 952 800 46 406 - 2014-15 1 574 941

Iraq 1 0.068 258 807 258 807 - 0.068 258 807 258 807 - 4 266 779 304 770 304 770 3 657 239 1995-2007 3 657 239

Ireland 0.418 1 590 902 1 590 902 - 0.418 1 590 902 1 590 902 - - - - - -

Israel 0.396 1 507 170 1 173 956 333 214 0.396 1 507 170 1 507 170 - 236 934 236 934 - - -

Italy 4.450 16 936 633 16 936 633 - 4.450 16 936 633 16 936 633 - - - - - -

Amounts due for previous financial periods

Assessed contributions

2014–15 assessed contributions

Amounts received or creditied

2014 2015

Amounts received or credited Assessed contributions
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State Calendar years Total due as

of assessment at 31.12.2015

Amounts received Balance due Balance due Balance due

% Amount in 2014 in 2015 % Amount or credited in 2015 as at 31.12.2015 as at  01.01.2014 in 2014 in 2015 as at 31.12.2015

Jamaica 0.011 41 866 564 41 302 0.011 41 866 41 866 - - - - - -

Japan 10.839 41 253 071 41 253 071 - 10.839 41 253 071 41 253 071 - - - - - -

Jordan 0.022 83 732 83 711 21 0.022 83 732 83 732 - - - - - -

Kazakhstan 1 0.121 460 524 460 524 - 0.121 460 524 460 524 - 1 801 352 257 335 257 335 1 286 682 1997-99 1 286 682

Kenya 0.013 49 478 49 478 - 0.013 49 478 43 567 5 911 - - - - 2015 5 911

Kiribati 0.001 3 806 - - 0.001 3 806 - 7 612 7 416 7 311 - 105 2013-15 7 717

Korea, Republic of 1.995 7 592 940 7 592 940 - 1.995 7 592 940 7 592 940 - 487 652 487 652 - - -

Kuwait 0.273 1 039 034 787 1 038 247 0.273 1 039 034 1 525 1 037 509 - - - - 2015 1 037 509

Kyrgyzstan 2 0.002 7 612 - - 0.002 7 612 - 15 224 1 151 217 - - 1 151 217 1992-2015 1 166 441

Lao People's Democratic Republic 0.002 7 612 4 027 3 585 0.002 7 612 7 612 - 3 573 3 573 - - -

Latvia 0.047 178 881 178 881 - 0.047 178 881 178 881 - - - - - -

Lebanon 0.042 159 851 - - 0.042 159 851 - 319 702 165 139 95 297 - 69 842 2013-15 389 544

Lesotho 0.001 3 806 3 332 474 0.001 3 806 3 806 - - - - - -

Liberia 2 0.001 3 806 3 - 0.001 3 806 4 7 605 83 430 - - 83 430 1996-99+2014-15 91 035

Libya 0.142 540 450 194 732 - 0.142 540 450 369 885 799 - - - - 2014-15 885 799

Lithuania 0.073 277 837 277 837 - 0.073 277 837 277 837 - - - - - -

Luxembourg 0.081 308 285 264 308 021 0.081 308 285 308 285 - - - - - -

Madagascar 0.003 11 418 - - 0.003 11 418 - 22 836 21 726 10 470 10 997 259 2013-15 23 095

Malawi 0.002 7 612 394 - 0.002 7 612 1 14 829 - - - - 2014-15 14 829

Malaysia 0.281 1 069 482 1 069 482 - 0.281 1 069 482 1 069 482 - - - - - -

Maldives, Republic of 0.001 3 806 - 3 806 0.001 3 806 - 3 806 7 190 - 7 190 - 2015 3 806

Mali 0.004 15 224 15 224 - 0.004 15 224 15 219 5 3 587 3 587 - - 2015 5

Malta 0.016 60 896 60 896 - 0.016 60 896 60 891 5 - - - - 2015 5

Marshall Islands 0.001 3 806 3 806 - 0.001 3 806 3 806 - - - - - -

Mauritania 0.002 7 612 50 5 797 0.002 7 612 1 9 376 1 881 - 1 881 - 2014-15 9 376

Mauritius 0.013 49 478 49 478 - 0.013 49 478 49 478 - - - - - -

Mexico 1.843 7 014 430 7 014 430 - 1.843 7 014 430 259 7 014 171 8 420 525 8 420 525 - - 2015 7 014 171

Moldova, Republic of 1 0.003 11 418 11 418 - 0.003 11 418 11 418 - 1 637 604 136 467 136 467 1 364 670 1995-2004 1 364 670

Mongolia 0.003 11 418 11 418 - 0.003 11 418 11 418 - 7 371 7 371 - - -

Montenegro 0.005 19 030 19 030 - 0.005 19 030 19 030 - - - - - -

Morocco 0.062 235 971 233 378 2 593 0.062 235 971 210 671 25 300 - - - - 2015 25 300

Mozambique 0.003 11 418 11 418 - 0.003 11 418 11 418 - - - - - -

Myanmar 0.010 38 060 36 799 1 261 0.010 38 060 38 060 - 414 414 - - -

Namibia 0.010 38 060 38 060 - 0.010 38 060 38 060 - - - - - -

Nepal 0.006 22 836 22 643 193 0.006 22 836 22 836 - - - - - -

Netherlands 1.655 6 298 905 6 298 905 - 1.655 6 298 905 6 298 905 - - - - - -

New Zealand 0.253 962 914 962 914 - 0.253 962 914 962 914 - - - - - -

Nicaragua 0.003 11 418 10 645 773 0.003 11 418 11 418 - - - - - -

Niger 0.002 7 612 70 7 542 0.002 7 612 7 612 - 14 394 - 14 394 - -

Nigeria 0.090 342 539 342 539 - 0.090 342 539 323 371 19 168 34 671 34 671 - - 2015 19 168

Norway 0.852 3 242 699 3 242 699 - 0.852 3 242 699 3 242 699 - - - - - -

Oman 0.102 388 210 388 182 28 0.102 388 210 388 157 53 14 14 - - 2015 53

Pakistan 0.085 323 509 282 875 40 634 0.085 323 509 323 459 50 15 003 15 003 - - 2015 50

Palau 0.001 3 806 - 3 332 0.001 3 806 - 4 280 5 770 - 5 770 - 2014-15 4 280

Panama 0.026 98 956 98 956 - 0.026 98 956 98 956 - - - - - -

Papua New Guinea 0.004 15 224 15 224 - 0.004 15 224 15 193 31 - - - - 2015 31

Paraguay 1 0.010 38 060 - 38 060 0.010 38 060 - 38 060 555 132 18 697 24 039 512 396 1988-90+1998-

2003+2011-13+2015

550 456

Peru 0.117 445 300 445 300 - 0.117 445 300 309 530 135 770 20 108 20 108 - - 2015 135 770

Philippines 0.154 586 122 586 122 - 0.154 586 122 586 122 - - - - - -

Amounts due for previous financial periods

Assessed contributions

2014–15 assessed contributions

Amounts received or creditied

2014 2015

Amounts received or credited Assessed contributions
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State Calendar years Total due as

of assessment at 31.12.2015

Amounts received Balance due Balance due Balance due

% Amount in 2014 in 2015 % Amount or credited in 2015 as at 31.12.2015 as at  01.01.2014 in 2014 in 2015 as at 31.12.2015

Poland 0.922 3 509 118 3 509 118 - 0.922 3 509 118 3 509 118 - - - - - -

Portugal 0.474 1 804 037 24 172 1 779 865 0.474 1 804 037 1 804 037 - 1 826 375 1 826 375 - - -

Qatar 0.209 795 451 795 451 - 0.209 795 451 795 451 - - - - - -

Romania 0.226 860 153 860 153 - 0.226 860 153 860 153 - - - - - -

Russian Federation 2.439 9 282 797 9 235 611 47 186 2.439 9 282 797 9 282 797 - - - - - -

Rwanda 0.002 7 612 49 - 0.002 7 612 1 15 174 3 576 - - 3 576 2013-15 18 750

Saint Kitts and Nevis 0.001 3 806 108 - 0.001 3 806 1 7 503 - - - - 2014-15 7 503

Saint Lucia 0.001 3 806 3 3 803 0.001 3 806 3 806 - 1 597 - 1 597 - -

Saint Vincent and the Grenadines 2 0.001 3 806 - - 0.001 3 806 - 7 612 7 215 - - 7 215 2011-15 14 827

Samoa 0.001 3 806 3 792 14 0.001 3 806 3 751 55 - - - - 2015 55

San Marino 0.003 11 418 11 418 - 0.003 11 418 11 418 - - - - - -

Sao Tome and Principe 2 0.001 3 806 - - 0.001 3 806 - 7 612 204 729 15 215 - 189 514 1995-2015 197 126

Saudi Arabia 0.865 3 292 177 3 292 177 - 0.865 3 292 177 3 292 177 - - - - - -

Senegal 0.006 22 836 21 634 1 202 0.006 22 836 22 836 - 50 042 50 042 - - -

Serbia 0.040 152 239 152 239 - 0.040 152 239 152 239 - - - - - -

Seychelles 0.001 3 806 3 806 - 0.001 3 806 3 806 - - - - - -

Sierra Leone 2 0.001 3 806 - - 0.001 3 806 - 7 612 417 465 - - 417 465 1986-2015 425 077

Singapore 0.384 1 461 498 1 461 498 - 0.384 1 461 498 1 461 498 - - - - - -

Slovakia 0.171 650 823 650 823 - 0.171 650 823 650 823 - - - - - -

Slovenia 0.100 380 598 380 598 - 0.100 380 598 380 598 - - - - - -

Solomon Islands 2 0.001 3 806 168 - 0.001 3 806 - 7 444 26 459 - - 26 459 2004-07+2010-15 33 903

Somalia 2 0.001 3 806 - - 0.001 3 806 - 7 612 396 752 - - 396 752 1988-2015 404 364

South Africa 0.372 1 415 826 1 415 826 - 0.372 1 415 826 1 415 826 - - - - - -

South Sudan 2 0.004 15 224 - - 0.004 15 224 - 30 448 18 203 - - 18 203 2012-15 48 651

Spain 2.975 11 322 805 11 322 805 - 2.975 11 322 805 11 322 805 - - - - - -

Sri Lanka 0.025 95 150 94 514 636 0.025 95 150 95 150 - - - - - -

Sudan 0.010 38 060 - - 0.010 38 060 - 76 120 87 987 60 228 - 27 759 2013-15 103 879

Suriname 0.004 15 224 102 - 0.004 15 224 4 30 342 15 - - 15 2013-15 30 357

Swaziland 0.003 11 418 11 418 - 0.003 11 418 14 11 404 - - - - 2015 11 404

Sweden 0.961 3 657 552 3 657 552 - 0.961 3 657 552 3 657 552 - - - - - -

Switzerland 1.048 3 988 672 3 988 672 - 1.048 3 988 672 3 988 672 - - - - - -

Syrian Arab Republic 0.036 137 015 137 015 - 0.036 137 015 137 015 - 194 961 194 961 - - -

Tajikistan 2 0.003 11 418 - - 0.003 11 418 - 22 836 575 451 35 900 20 000 519 551 1994-2015 542 387

Tanzania, United Republic of 0.009 34 254 326 10 849 0.009 34 254 - 57 333 29 177 10 887 18 290 - 2014-15 57 333

Thailand 0.239 909 630 909 630 - 0.239 909 630 909 630 - - - - - -

The former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia 0.008 30 448 279 30 169 0.008 30 448 - 30 448 25 332 25 332 - - 2015 30 448

Timor-Leste 0.002 7 612 7 612 - 0.002 7 612 3 802 3 810 - - - - 2015 3 810

Togo 0.001 3 806 3 806 - 0.001 3 806 3 806 - - - - - -

Trinidad and Tobago 0.044 167 463 167 463 - 0.044 167 463 167 463 - - - - - -

Tunisia 0.036 137 015 137 015 - 0.036 137 015 137 015 - - - - - -

Turkey 1.329 5 058 154 5 058 154 - 1.329 5 058 154 5 058 154 - - - - - -

Turkmenistan 0.019 72 314 72 314 - 0.019 72 314 72 314 - - - - - -

Tuvalu 0.001 3 806 3 - 0.001 3 806 1 7 608 14 - - 14 2013-15 7 622

Uganda 0.006 22 836 228 - 0.006 22 836 8 45 436 17 874 - - 17 874 2013-15 63 310

Ukraine 1 0.099 376 792 102 376 690 0.099 376 792 376 792 - 2 531 775 - 632 944 1 898 831 1998-99+2009+2015 1 898 831

United Arab Emirates 0.595 2 264 561 2 264 561 - 0.595 2 264 561 2 264 561 - - - - - -

United Kingdom 5.182 19 722 614 19 722 614 - 5.182 19 722 614 19 722 614 - - - - - -

United States 22.000 83 731 670 58 919 556 24 812 114 22.000 83 731 670 41 880 835 41 850 835 39 806 688 39 806 688 - - 2015 41 850 835

Amounts due for previous financial periods

Assessed contributions

2014–15 assessed contributions

Amounts received or creditied

2014 2015

Amounts received or credited Assessed contributions
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State Calendar years Total due as

of assessment at 31.12.2015

Amounts received Balance due Balance due Balance due

% Amount in 2014 in 2015 % Amount or credited in 2015 as at 31.12.2015 as at  01.01.2014 in 2014 in 2015 as at 31.12.2015

Uruguay 0.052 197 911 - 197 911 0.052 197 911 197 911 - 96 135 96 135 - - -

Uzbekistan 1 0.015 57 090 - - 0.015 57 090 57 090 57 090 1 527 210 85 500 74 900 1 366 810 1997-2015 1 423 900

Vanuatu 2 0.001 3 806 13 - 0.001 3 806 - 7 599 11 950 - - 11 950 2010-15 19 549

Venezuela, Bolivarian Republic of 0.627 2 386 353 11 969 44 209 0.627 2 386 353 - 4 716 528 2 250 763 2 120 980 129 783 - 2014-15 4 716 528

Viet Nam 0.042 159 851 159 851 - 0.042 159 851 159 851 - - - - - -

Yemen 0.010 38 060 396 16 157 0.010 38 060 - 59 567 14 674 - 14 674 - 2014-15 59 567

Zambia 0.006 22 836 5 415 - 0.006 22 836 - 40 257 11 444 11 444 - - 2014-15 40 257

Zimbabwe 0.002 7 612 8 7 604 0.002 7 612 7 390 222 10 - 10 - 2015 222

Total 100.000 380 598 500 334 031 812 31 650 789 100.000 380 598 500 310 888 561 84 625 838 94 428 880 65 516 019 8 695 170 20 217 691 104 843 529

Amounts due by States for prior periods of 

membership in the ILO :

Paraguay (3) - - - - - - - - 245 066 - - 245 066 1937 245 066

Former Socialist Fed. Rep. of Yugoslavia (4) - - - - - - - 6 370 623 - - 6 370 623 1989-2011 6 370 623

Total amounts due by States for prior periods of membership in the ILO- - - - - - - - 6 615 689 - - 6 615 689 6 615 689

Total 100.000  380 598 500 334 031 812 31 650 789 100.000    380 598 500 310 888 561 84 625 838 101 044 569 65 516 019 8 695 170 26 833 380 111 459 218

Member State Session of Conference at which arrangement was approved

Armenia 93rd (2005)

Azerbaijan 95th (2006)

Belarus 86th (1998)

Central African Republic 97th (2008)

Georgia 93rd (2005)

Iraq 97th (2008)

Kazakhstan 88th (2000)

Moldova, Republic of 93rd (2005)

Paraguay 102nd (2013)

Ukraine 99th (2010)

Uzbekistan 104th (2015)

Amounts due for previous financial periods

Assessed contributions

2014–15 assessed contributions

Amounts received or creditied

2014 2015

Amounts received or credited Assessed contributions

2   Member States which are two years or more in arrears and which have lost the right to vote under the provisions of paragraph 4 of article 13 of the Constitution.

      The former Socialist Federal Republic of Yugoslavia was deleted from the list of ILO member States on 24 November 2000. 

1   Financial arrangements.

     Paraguay owes 245,066 Swiss francs in respect of contributions to the ILO and other League of Nations organizations for the period prior to 1939. The 45th (1961) Session of the ILC decided that these arrears should be cancelled, effective on the date that payment is made of all Paraguay's arrears of 

contributions due since the date when it re-joined the Organization.

4   Status of the Former Socialist Federal Republic of Yugoslavia.

The arrears of contributions of these member States equal or exceed the amount of the contributions due from them for the past two full years (2013–14). Each of these member States had therefore lost the right to vote, in accordance with the provisions of paragraph 4 of article 13 of the Constitution of the

Organization.

      Member States listed in the following table have financial arrangements for the settlement of arrears of contributions or amounts due in respect of prior periods of membership.

3   Status of Paraguay.
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Detail of net assets revenue and expense by fund for 2015 (US$ thousands) 

Net assets by Fund Net assets  
31.12.2014 

 Revenue 
2015 

Expenses 
2015 

Net result 
2015 

 Transfer 
of fund 

 Deficit 
financing 

 Adjustments 
to net assets 

 Net assets 
31.12.2015 

Funds with approved budgets          

Regular budget 93 299  403 205 (418 620) (15 415)  (411)  16 200  10 003  103 676 

CINTERFOR  731  1 667 (1 537) 130  –  –  (1)  860 

ITC 21 828  44 017 (43 905) 112  –  –  (2 294)  19 646 

Subtotal 115 858  448 889 (464 062) (15 173)  (411)  16 200  7 708  124 182 
              

Subsidiary funds              

Development cooperation 
projects – 

 
234 547 (234 547) – 

 
– 

 
– 

 
– 

 
– 

RBSA 53 247  17 109 (23 594) (6 485)  –  –  (17)  46 745 

Programme support income 56 761  22 006 (10 986) 11 020  –  –  (40)  67 741 

Publications 1 071  306 (168) 138  –  –  –  1 209 

ITS 1 641  1 – 1  –  –  –  1 642 

Research 15 700  12 – 12  –  –  –  15 712 

Gifts grants and 
reimbursable costs 5 798 

 
3 406 (4 114) (708) 

 
– 

 
– 

 
(7) 

 
5 083 

Land and buildings 493 789  715 (10 967) (10 252)  –  –  (28 467)  455 070 

Building accommodation 63 516  26 988 (17 205) 9 783  –  –  (4)  73 295 

Working Capital 35 461  (143) – (143)  –  (16 200)  –  19 118 

Income Adjustment 
Account 62 830 

 
(291) (634) (925) 

 
– 

 
– 

 
– 

 
61 905 

Prior period surplus  928  1 (129) (128)  –  –  –  800 

Special Programme 
Accounts 14 145 

 
(36) (1 955) (1 991) 

 
– 

 
– 

 
(1) 

 
12 153 

Terminal benefits (13 085)  4 689 (3 942) 747  –  –  10 325  (2 013) 

SHIF 58 401  44 908 (41 657) 3 251  –  –  –  61 652 

ASHI liability (1 088 151)  – (34 831) (34 831)  –  –  (36 249)  (1 159 231) 

ASHI Reserve 2 419  1 206 –  1 206  –  –  –  3 625 

Other Funds 2 556  4 188 (3 957) 231  –  –  (10)  2 777 

Subtotal (232 973)  359 612 (388 686) (29 074)  –  (16 200)  (54 470)  (332 717) 
              

Inter–fund elimination –  (95 029) 95 029 –  –  –  –  – 

Total (117 115)  713 472 (757 719) (44 247)  (411)  –  (46 762)  (208 535) 
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